ISSN: 1302-0471

65/3

# Gülhane Medical Journal

Gulhane Med J September 2023 Volume 65 Issue 3



www.gulhanemedj.org

**Gülhane Tıp Dergisi** 

#### **Executive Editor-in-Chief**

#### Kemalettin AYDIN. M.D., Prof.

Rector of the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, İstanbul, Türkiye

Editor-in-Chief

#### M. Ali GÜLÇELİK, M.D., Prof.

Dean of Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8967-7303

#### Editors

#### Muhammet ÇINAR, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6150-3539

#### Nesrin ÖCAL, M.D., Assoc. Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Chest Diseases, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3789-7769

#### İlker TAŞÇI, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-0936-2476

#### Duygu TECER, M.D., Assoc. Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8816-6181 Managing Editor İlker TAŞÇI, M.D., Prof.

### English Editing

Provided by Galenos for accepted articles

#### **Editorial Board**

İsmail Yaşar AVCI, M.D., Prof. Hatice AYHAN, R.N., Assoc. Prof. Tülay BAŞAK, R.N., Prof. Ahmet COŞAR, M.D., Prof. Mehmet Ayhan CÖNGÖLOĞLU, M.D., Prof. Yaprak DÖNMEZ ÇAKIL, Ph.D., Asst. Prof. Fatma İlknur ÇINAR, R.N., Prof. Cem HAYMANA, M.D., Assoc. Prof. Ali Mohamed Ali ISMAIL, M.D. Ömer KARADAŞ, M.D., Prof. Necdet KOCABIYIK, M.D., Prof. Hamit KÜÇÜK, M.D., Assoc. Prof. Ananya MADIYAL, M.D. Sinan ÖKSÜZ, M.D., Prof. Gökhan ÖZKAN, M.D., Assoc. Prof. Rahşan ILIKÇI SAĞKAN, M.D., Prof. Ayhan SAVAŞER, M.D., Prof. Taner ŞAHİN, M.D., Asst. Prof. Ayşe SAATÇİ YAŞAR, M.D., Prof. Dilek YILDIZ, R.N., Prof.

Gülhane Medical Journal is the official scientific publication of the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye.



#### Publisher Contact

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (530) 177 30 97 / +90 (539) 307 32 03 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr • yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Publication Date: September 2023 E-ISSN: 2146-8052 International scientific journal published quarterly.

**Gülhane Tıp Dergisi** 

Gülhane Medical Journal (Gulhane Med J) is the official, scientific, peer-reviewed, international journal of Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye. The journal accepts submissions on all aspects of general medicine. Featured article types include original articles, case reports, reviews, and letters to the editor. The history of the Gülhane Medical Journal dates back to 1871 and it was named with its current title in 1999.

Reasons to publish with this journal:

- Electronic archive available since 2002
- Covers the broad field of medicine
- Double-blind, peer-review policy
- Published in both print and online versions
- Online early appearance with a doi number
- No fee of any type for submission or publication

The journal is published quarterly in March, June, September and December.

Processing and publication are free of charge with Gülhane Medical Journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process.

All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system which is available through the journal's web page.

For authors submitting to Gülhane Medical Journal, it is recommended that authors follow the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

#### Abstracting and Indexing

Gülhane Medical Journal is indexed in Scopus, British Library, Ulakbim TR Index, CABI, Ebsco HOST, OCLC Worldcat, Embase, Türk Medline, Türkiye Atıf Dizini, J-Gate and Gale.

#### **Copyright Statement**

Gülhane Faculty of Medicine owns the royalty and national and international copyright of all content published in the journal.

### About Us

#### Material Disclaimer

The author(s) is (are) responsible for the articles published in Gülhane Medical Journal The editor, editorial board and publisher do not accept any responsibility for the articles.

#### **Open Access Policy**

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on the rules of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www. budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to peerreviewed research literature, we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercialNoDerivatives 4.0 International License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ncnd/4.0/).

#### Publisher Corresponding Address

#### Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti.

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21, 34093 Fındıkzade-İstanbul-Türkiye

Phone: +90 (530) 177 30 97 / +90 (539) 307 32 03

E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

#### Instructions to Authors

Gülhane Medical Journal (GMJ) is an international, multidisciplinary and peer reviewed journal for researchers and healthcare providers. It is published four times a year, and accepts submissions in English. It is the official journal of the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye.

GMJ follows the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors's (ICMJE) Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals. For authors submitting to GMJ, it is recommended that authors follow the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

All submissions are evaluated through the online submission system via (<u>http://submit.gulhanemedj.org/login.php</u>). Following submission, all correspondence is sent by e-mail.

Accepted manuscripts are assigned a DOI number, and the content is freely available.

GMJ publishes in categories listed below;

- 1. Original article
- 2 Case report
- 3. Review article
- 4. Letter to the editor (and their responses)

Authors submitting their manuscripts should follow this guide for the authors. Editorial office may send the manuscript back in order to complete the standard requirements before proceeding for review.

Original articles should be designated either basic research or clinical research.

Review articles should include a summary and subheadings in the text to highlight the content of different sections. Authors are recommended to contact journal before submitting a review article in order to get a provision for review.

Case reports should present an actual patient case with a specific disease or condition.

Letters to the editor should be related to the articles published in the last four issues.

Below are the word limits applied by the GMJ, specific to manuscript types;

Type of article	Abstract	Word count*	Number of authors Number of reference		Table/figure			
Original article	250	2000 to 5000	Unlimited	40	5			
Review article	250	2000 to 4000	3	50	3			
Case report	100	500 to 1000	5	15	2			
Letter to the editor	- 250 to 50		3	5	-			
*Excludes abstract acknowledgments conflict of interest statement references and tables: minimum and maximum word counts								

The authors must declare that their submitted article has neither been published in any journal, nor been simultaneously submitted to another journal. Presentations as an abstract at a scientific meeting is an exception but this should be

submitted to another journal. Presentations as an abstract at a scientific meeting is an exception but this should be declared in the cover letter.

The Methods section should include a statement indicating that the research was approved by an independent local, regional or national review body (e.g., ethics committee, institutional review board). If the study includes human subjects, the author should declare openly that the work described has been carried out in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans (link- https://www.wma. net/policies-post/wma-international-code-of-medical-ethics/), and Uniform Requirements for manuscripts submitted to Biomedical journals (link- http://www.icmje.org/). The name of the institution and the code of approval (i.e., approval number) must be provided. Authors should include a statement in the manuscript about informed consent obtained from their participants. According to the most recent regulations by the Turkish Academic Network and Information Center (ULAKBIM), the authors (s) of a case report must include a statement in their manuscript that written, informed consent was obtained from the patient.

### **Gülhane Tıp Dergisi**

### Instructions to Authors

GMJ follows the ICMJE's clinical trial registration policy for the clinical trials. Therefore, registration of clinical trials in a public trials registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment is a basic requirement in this journal. The name of the public registry and the code of approval should be included in the manuscript.

Animal experiments should comply with the standards as detailed by the <u>EU Directive 2010/63/EU</u> for animal experiments. Different or local regulations may apply provided that this is written in the manuscript and EU Directive is not violated.

#### Preperation of the manuscript

The text should be in simple, single-column format. Using MS word processor, Times New Roman font and 11- or 12-point font size should be chosen. The text and references should be double-spaced.

Importantly, the title page must be uploaded separately, no page breaks should be used and all pages should be numbered (below, centered) consecutively.

Abbreviations should be defined when first used in the text.

Units must be expressed following the international system of units (SI).

Uploading the Manuscript Submission Form (MSF) (found in online submission system) is mandatory for all submissions. MSF must be filled in English (typewriting is encouraged), signed by the corresponding author and scanned clearly.

Authors should make sure that a good layout is helpful throughout the review and publication process.

#### Cover Letter

All submissions should include a cover letter and complete contact information for the corresponding author. The authors must declare in this letter that their submitted article has neither been published in any journal, nor been simultaneously submitted to another journal. Whether the authors have published or submitted any related papers from the same study should be stated. Authors may also use this letter for confidential contact with the editor.

#### Title Page

All manuscripts should start with the title page. It should include; the title of the manuscript, full names, highest academic degrees, and affiliations of all authors including updates, name and complete contact information for the corresponding author, and manuscript word count (not including title, abstract, acknowledgments, references, tables, and figure legends). The title page should also include the "Acknowledgments" section, "Conflict of interest" statement, and information about the previous publications(s) as an abstract with the inclusion of authors list in the presentation. A sample of a title page can be found here.

#### Abstract

It should be structured according to Aims, Methods, Results, Conclusions

#### Keywords

Up to six keywords should be included in the manuscript.

#### Main document

It should be divided into the following sections: Introduction; Methods; Results; Discussion.

A case report should be structured as follows; introduction, Presentation of Case, Discussion, Conclusion.

#### Acknowledgments (mandatory)

This section must include list of author contributions, credits, and other information. Author contributions must be listed in accordance with ICMJE authorship criteria. Funding must be described in detail including valid codes. Authors are responsible for the completeness of the information that should exist in the acknowledgement.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

#### Instructions to Authors

#### Conflict of Interest (mandatory)

Authors must disclose any conflict of interest related to their submission. This statement must include any financial, personal or other relationships within three years of beginning the submitted work. When there is no such relationship, the authors must type "The authors declared they do not have anything to disclose regarding conflict of interest with respect to this manuscript."

#### References

It is the authors' responsibility to maintain the accuracy and completeness of their references and for correct citation in the text.

References should be numbered and listed in the order they appear in the text. In the text, references should be identified using arabic numerals in parenthesis placed before the period.Up to six authors in a cited article all authors should be listed. When there are seven or more authors, the first three authors' names should be included followed by "et al.". The issue number must be included in journal references, and last page number must be typed in full.

#### Examples of reference style:

Galant SP, Komarow HD, Shin HW, Siddiqui S, Lipworth BJ. The case for impulse oscillometry in the management of asthma in children and adults. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017;118:664-671.

Willeit K, Pechlaner R, Willeit P, et al. Association between vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 and atrial fibrillation. JAMA Cardiol. 2017;2:516-523.

Taichman DB, Sahni P, Pinborg A, et al. Data sharing statements for clinical trials: a requirement of the international committee of medical journal editors [published online June 6, 2017]. Ann Intern Med. doi: 10.7326/M17-1028.

World Health Organization. WHO Criteria for Diagnosis of Osteoporosis. Last Accessed Date: 15.06.2017. Available from: http://www.4bonehealth.org/education/world-health-organization-criteria-diagnosis-osteoporosis/

Venables WN, Ripley BD. Modern Applied Statistics With S. 4th ed. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Co; 2003

Purnell L. Transcultural Diversity and Health Care. In: Transcultural Health Care: A Culturally Competent Approach. 4th ed. Philadelphia: FA Davis Company; 2012:7.

#### Tables

Tables should be numbered in the order of their citation in the text. Each table should have a brief title. Footnotes should also be used where needed. Each table should be uploaded as a separate word file.

#### Figures

Figures should be numbered in the order of their citation in the text. Each figure should have a brief title. Footnotes should also be used where needed. Each figure should be uploaded as a separate JPEG or TIFF file and should not exceed 1 MB in size.

#### Table and figure Legends

Use of brief legends (captions) for tables and figures is recommended. These can include explanation of the table or figure, markers and expansion of abbreviations. The legends should be uploaded as separate, word files.

GMJ encourages authors to use reporting guidelines such as CONSORT for Randomized Controlled Trial, PRISMA for Systematic Reviews or Meta-analyses of controlled trials, STARD for Diagnostic accuracy studies, and STROBE for Observational epidemiology studies.

#### Fees

GMJ offers entirely free publication. No page charges, article processing charge, or other are applied. The journal does not accept donations.

© 2018 Gülhane Medical Journal. All Rights Reserved.

### **Gülhane Tıp Dergisi**

### Peer Review and Ethics

#### Peer Review Policy

Gülhane Medical Journal is an independent, non-biased periodical publication that adheres to the double-blind peerreview process.

The manuscript evaluation process and ethical principals in this publication conform to the Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations) (http://www.icmje.org) and The Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (https://publicationethics.org/).

Submitted manuscripts are first evaluated for their scientific value by the managing editor. After the initial evaluation, an editor is assigned by the Editor-in-Chief. Each manuscript is sent to at least two reviewers by the assigning editor. Following review and the decision of the assigning editor, the Editor-in-Chief makes a decision. The procedure is the same for the initial submission and the revised manuscript. The whole evaluation process is aimed to be completed within 12 weeks. Where necessary, manuscripts are also evaluated by the statistics editor.

The dates of submission and acceptance are displayed on the first page of the accepted manuscripts.

The Editor-in-Chief and editors have the right to reject or return manuscripts to be revised for format or scientific content before the reviewer selection.

All queries should be sent to the editorial office via e-mail the following address: editor@gulhanemedj.org.

#### Withdrawal Policy

Withdrawal of a manuscript will be permitted only for the most compelling and unavoidable reasons. For withdrawal requests, authors need to submit an "Article Withdrawal Form", signed by all authors. The form is available at (http://glns.co/vsw7j). The submission of this form is not sufficient to complete the withdrawal procedure. The editorial office notifies the authors about the decision of the Editor-in-Chief.

In case the review process exceeds six months following editor assignment, the authors have the right to place a withdrawal request without any reason.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

#### Authors

Gülhane Medical Journal is committed to providing high-quality articles and upholds the publication ethics to advance the intellectual agenda of science. We expect the authors to comply with the best practice in publication ethics.

For experimental and clinical studies, approval by the ethical committee and a statement on adherence of the study protocol to the international agreements (Helsinki Declaration revised 2013 (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/ wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/) are mandatory. In experimental animal studies, the authors should indicate that the procedures are in accordance with animal rights (Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals, www.nap.edu.catalog/5140.html) and they should obtain animal ethic committee approval.

The collected data cannot be shared with third-party persons, organizations or other affiliations. Patients' private data cannot be published.

The "Materials and Methods" should include sufficient information about the ethical approval along with its source and code. This section should also include the required statements that the study procedures conformed to the international standards of human and animal studies, and written, informed consent was obtained for each participant.

The declaration of the conflict of interest between the authors and institutions, and acknowledgement of any funding or financial or material support should appear at the end of the manuscript.

#### **Editors and Reviewers**

Editors and reviewers are required to report any potential conflict of interest with the submitting authors and their institutions.

### Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

### Peer Review and Ethics

Evidence of the following attempts is subject to sanctions in this journal:

Plagiarism: Republishing the data or intellectual material of someone else as one's own original work.

Fabrication: Publishing data and findings/results that do not exist.

**Duplication (multiple publications):** Publishing the same data or intellectual material more than once. Publication as an abstract presentation in a scientific meeting is outside this definition.

Salami publication/slicing: Publishing multiple articles by dividing the results of a single study preternaturally.

We use Crossref Similarity Check powered by "iThenticate" to screen all submissions for plagiarism before the review step and before the publication.

#### **Author Contributions**

In accordance with the ICMJE recommendations, contributions of all authors must be listed in the manuscript. Contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should not be listed as authors, but they should be acknowledged.

GÜLHANE MEDICAL JOURNAL Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

**Gülhane Tıp Dergisi** 

Contents

#### REVIEW

**101** Platelet-rich fibrin: Current trends in periodontal regeneration Deepa Sara John, Nina Shenoy; Karnataka, India

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- **108** Maternal and paternal attachment levels in the prenatal period Meltem Uğurlu, Gizem Arslan, Özhan Özdemir; Ankara, Türkiye
- **115** The relationship of food addiction with carbohydrate intake and stress in adolescents Mine Tosun, Burcu Alan Ersöz, Nesli Ersoy; Ankara, Türkiye
- 123 Knowledge and practice of dental healthcare providers about disinfection of light curing units Vinay N. Mavani, Shambhavi Gogia, Manuel S. Thomas, Ethel Suman, Srikant Natarajan; Ontario, Canada, New Delhi, Mangalore, India
- 130 Comparison of self-esteem and anxiety levels among children with and without precocious puberty Burcu Bakırlıoğlu, Derya Suluhan; Denizli, Ankara, Türkiye

#### **CASE REPORTS**

- 138 Tuberculosis of the wrist Buse Hacıoğlu, Emre Tekgöz, İlker Taşçı; Ankara, Türkiye
- 141 Autoimmune hepatitis and primary biliary cholangitis overlap syndrome after mRNA COVID-19 vaccination

Nadir Süleyman Çetinkaya, Mustafa Cengiz, Emine Gül Aydın; Ankara, Türkiye

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

### Message from the Editor-in-Chief

#### Message from the Editor-in-Chief,

The latest announcement has shown a reduction in the impact factor of most journals in the field of medicine. During the pandemic, an enormous increase in published articles on COVID-19 and citations has resulted in a rapid increase in the impact factor of journals. It appears the picture will stabilize in the coming ratings.

GMJ, on the other side, has been increasing its rating through a growing number of citations from all over the world.

The number of submissions on COVID-19 to GMJ is decreasing, as with other journals. We, of course, are still motivated to increase the value of research reports on COVID-19 in GMJ.

In the third issue of GMJ, we have selected highly interesting articles and case reports. As the journal's publishing team, we try to keep covering a wide range of articles from different disciplines.

With this opportunity, I would like to express my gratitude to all submitting authors, reviewers, and editors for their contributions.

M. Ali Gülçelik, M.D., Prof. Editor-in-Chief



## Platelet-rich fibrin: Current trends in periodontal regeneration

#### Deepa Sara John, Nina Shenoy

Department of Periodontics, NITTE (Deemed to be University), AB Shetty Memorial Institute of Dental Sciences (ABSMIDS), Mangalore, Karnataka, India

Date submitted: 08.10.2022 Date accepted:

28.02.2023 Online publication date: 15.09.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nina Shenoy, MDS, Department of Periodontics, NITTE (Deemed to be University), AB Shetty Memorial Institute of Dental Sciences (ABSMIDS), Mangalore, Karnataka, India +9844344488 ninashenoy@gmail.com

ORCID:

orcid.org/0000-0002-1189-6901

**Keywords:** Platelet-rich plasma, platelet-rich fibrin, growth factors, platelet concentrates, regeneration, autologous platelet concentrates

#### ABSTRACT

Autologous platelet concentrates (APCs) have witnessed a sharp rise in popularity in recent years due to their low cost and ability to promote tissue neoangiogenesis. Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) is a platelet concentrate (PC) generated from the patient's blood without anticoagulants. PRF is a platelet-based condensation of suspended growth factors. It also has a substantial fibrin network, many leukocytes, cytokines, and glycoproteins and is used for tissue and bone regeneration. PRF plays a substantial role in wound healing. Based on the leucocyte and fibrin concentrations of PCs. Dohan Ehrenfest categorized PCs into four groups. L-PRF was used in the clot formation to fill the defect and in the membrane cover. Since then, studies, technological advances and manufacturing protocols have created newer forms and enhanced their potential as regenerative materials in numerous disciplines. In endosseous and furcation deformities, new APC varieties are being explored as biological mediators of regeneration. A computerized search of the PubMed and Google Scholar databases was performed to select relevant articles from 2006 to 2022. Screening of English language systematic reviews, meta-analyses, original research, and narrative reviews were considered in synthesizing this review. Primary subject headings like PRF, platelet-rich plasma, PCs, growth factors and PRF, periodontal regeneration and PCs were combined using Boolean 'and' with secondary terms like types, preparation, furcation, recession and intrabony defects.

#### Introduction

Periodontal disease is an inflammatory condition that destroys supporting structures, resulting in tooth loss. Periodontal therapy mainly aims at regenerating lost periodontal tissues. Several autologous and synthetic biomaterials enhance soft tissue and bone restoration. Autologous biomaterials occurring naturally [such as autologous platelet concentrates (PC)] refer to those present within the body and act as messengers for repair, regeneration, and healing (1). Synthetic biomaterials (alloplastic) possess a few disadvantages, such as foreign body reaction and avascularity (1-3).

Platelets and fibrin are two well-known autologous biomaterials that promote wound healing and regeneration. Research has been conducted in various fields to develop bloodderived products like PCs. Due to its excellent regeneration characteristics, platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) has demonstrated promising outcomes. This review describes the history, features, and current concepts regarding the function of PRF regeneration of the periodontium.

#### Methods

A computerized search of the PubMed and Google Scholar databases was performed to select relevant articles from 2006



to 2022. Screening of English language systematic reviews, meta-analyses, original research, and narrative reviews were considered in synthesizing this review. Primary subject headings like PRF, platelet-rich plasma (PRP), PCs, growth factors and PRF, periodontal regeneration and PCs were combined using Boolean 'and' with secondary terms like types, preparation, furcation, recession and intrabony defects (IBDs).

#### Historical background-from fibrin glue to PCs

Due to its known properties of wound healing and regeneration, blood-derived products have been widely used in the medical field for the past 40 years (1,4). The use of fibrin glue and sealants for topical hemostasis, soft tissue healing, and as melting agents for synthetic bone substitutes grew in the 1970s (3). It was created by combining donor plasma fibrinogen, factor XIII, and fibronectin with thrombin and calcium, which causes fibrinogen to polymerize (1,3). However, there were several drawbacks such as the suboptimal stability of fibrin glue due to low concentration of fibrinogen, low resistance to physical stress, expensive processing and more importantly the risk of crossinfection and viral transmissions (5). Since these products were made from human blood in blood banks, some countries had legally restricted their use due to the risk of contamination (6). Hence, many experiments using patient blood were conducted to test various methods to obtain autologous fibrin glues.

Hematology is where the concept of PCs initially emerged (1). It is an evolution of fibrin glue technology (6). In its initial stages, PCs were used to treat patients with severe thrombocytopenia to prevent hemorrhage (7). However, its usage spread to the areas of regeneration and wound healing. The multiple functions of platelets and the widespread availability of numerous growth factors and cytokines help in regeneration. Platelets produce fibrin, fibronectin, and vitronectin which provide the matrix for connective tissue and cell migration (2).

Ross et al. (3) described platelet regeneration capacity in early 1974. First-generation PC, PRP, was used in oral and maxillofacial surgery by Whitman, Berry, and Green (1997) (8) and Marx and associates (1998) (9). Combining the properties of growth factors generated by platelets and the characteristics of fibrin glue results in enhanced healing and regeneration effects of PRP (7). Due to the availability of several different systems for procuring PRP, a uniform protocol for PRP preparation needs to be revised. However, in most techniques, the patient's blood is mixed with an anticoagulant before being centrifuged to separate the blood into layers based on weight, including red blood cells (RBCs), leukocytes, platelets, and plasma (6,7). After its procurement, the stability of PRP is maintained for 8 hours, which eradicates its potential to transmit diseases or cause immunogenic reactions. Platelets start releasing growth factors within the first 10 min of PRP activation. Hence, PRP should be administered during the first ten minutes of its activation since 95% of growth factor release occurs within one hour (10). There are several drawbacks of PRP, depending on several variables, namely PC, leukocyte count, activator type, and time of fibrin scaffold placement after clotting; the characteristics of PRP can vary (1). Also, the poor handling properties due to its liquid nature, lack of uniformity in preparation protocol, and brief release of growth factors limit the clinical advantages (1). Incorporating bovine thrombin in PRP can cause the coagulation factors V, XI, and thrombin to be the target of antibodies, showing a negative impact on the coagulation process (2). Also, there are legal restrictions on handling blood, thereby paving the way for PRF (1,2).

Given the drawbacks mentioned above, Choukroun et al. (11) developed PRF in France, a second-generation PC rich in leucocytes and platelets in a fibrin network (also referred to as Choukroun's PRF). PRF is a robust regenerative biomaterial that was found to accelerate tissue healing and hence has several applications in periodontics (11).

#### Platelet concentrate classification

- PCs were categorized into the following groups by Dohan et al. (5) in 2009 based on the leukocyte content and fibrin structures (Figure 1) (10,12).
- The PAW (platelet activation, white blood cells) categorization system established by De Long et al. (13) was based on the activation method, white blood cell and neutrophil content, and platelet number.
- Mishra et al. (14) proposed another classification, confined to PRP and applicable only to sports medicine centered on the presence or absence of leukocytes. Four different forms of PRP were identified to determine whether PRP



**Figure 1.** Platelet concentrate classification PRP: Platelet-rich plasma, PRF: Platelet-rich fibrin

is activated. In addition, other classifications are proposed by various authors (15-18). However, no agreement on classification systems has yet been reached.

#### **Preparation of PRF**

Unlike PRP, no anticoagulant is used; therefore, there is no need for animal thrombin or calcium for fibrin polymerization. A PC-02 table centrifuge and a blood collection kit with a 24 gauge butterfly needle and 10 mL blood collection tubes are necessary to prepare PRF.

#### Protocol

5 mL of venous blood in each sterile tube was collected. It was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3000 rpm (19). After the process, the whole blood is divided into three layers (12): a layer of platelet-poor plasma (PPP) on top, a fibrin clot with platelets and leukocytes in the middle (L-PRF) and RBCs at the bottom of the tube (Picture 1).

Plastic tubes were coated with silica and silicon to activate the coagulation process. Without anticoagulants, the platelets in contact with the inner walls become activated, progressively activating the coagulation cascade. In the beginning, fibrinogen exists at the top portion of the tube. Later, following centrifugation, thrombin is activated and converted to fibrin, forming a fibrin clot. The speed of blood collection and transfer to the centrifuge is crucial to the success of this procedure (19). The adhering RBCs were scraped off the fibrin clot obtained after centrifugation and discarded. By pressing out the fluids in the fibrin clot, L-PRF can also be transformed into the shape of a membrane.



Picture 1. Blood layers after centrifugation. a) Platelet-poor plasma. b) Fibrin clot. c) Red blood cells

#### PRF techniques/protocols and types

With the advance in research, several modifications in the preparation protocol of PRF were devised to enhance its wound healing and regeneration potential (Figure 2).

#### Periodontal regeneration with PRF

PRF is a platelet-based consolidation of suspended growth factors. It also has a substantial fibrin network, abundant leukocytes, cytokines, glycoproteins, and several other components. The platelets contain granules that release cytokines and other factors such as serotonin, von Willebrand factor, factor V, osteonectin, and antimicrobial proteins; they cause homeostasis and enhance the clearance of pathogens. Leukocytes in PRF function in wound healing and regeneration. They also have anti-inflammatory, anti-nociceptive (20,21) and cell proliferation differentiation properties (12). PRF contains abundant growth factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), fibroblast growth factor, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). VEGF is involved in various functions like osteoblast proliferation, collagen production, and angiogenesis. The Fibrin matrix promotes the invasion of various inflammatory, endothelial, and other cells. This matrix can also capture glycosaminoglycans enhancing cell migration and healing (12). They also contain stem cells, such as human bone mesenchymal stem cells that are stimulated when they come into contact with L-PRF (5,12).

In contrast to PRP, which has a rigid network, PRF has a thin, elastic fibrin network that promotes improved cytokine entrapment and cellular motility (2). The PRF matrix contains glycosaminoglycans like hyaluronic acid and heparin, which has a strong affinity for small peptides like cytokines, promoting cell migration and enhancing healing (5). PRF also promoted micro vascularization and increased cell migration (2). Furthermore, due to a natural fibrin network, there is no proteolysis of growth factors. All these properties make PRF a better healing biomaterial.

Hence, abundant growth factors in PRF have indicated its use in various regenerative and wound-healing procedures. The fundamental goal of periodontal therapy is to regenerate lost periodontal structures to restore health, function, and esthetics. As a result, the use of PRF in treating soft tissue healing, gingival recessions, IBDs, and furcation defects has gained popularity in periodontics. Also, the benefits are abundant, such as a simple process of preparation application and a cost-effective method. There is no addition of bovine thrombin and anticoagulants, and the PRF membrane is elastic and flexible owing to its three-dimensional structure, enhancing cellular migration and proliferation. PRF has certain demerits; since autologous blood is used, it is a challenge to get more significant amounts. Hence, its utility in general surgery is limited. The period between



#### Figure 2. PRF techniques/protocols and types PRF: Platelet-rich fibrin

blood collection and centrifugation impacts the success of the procedure. It is donor-specific since it comprises immune cells and highly antigenic components. If not used immediately, the PRF membrane shrinks, resulting in the loss of structural integrity and leukocyte viability. Also, there is a risk of bacterial contamination when stored.

#### The role of PRF in the regeneration of IBD

It has been demonstrated that PRF enhances boneforming cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, and mineralization during bone formation. Several mechanisms have been suggested for bone formation through the use of PRF. The macrophages in PRF can directly promote osteogenesis. It encourages the propagation of growth factors, periodontal ligament cells, and osteoblasts, inducing osteoprotegerin production and proliferation of osteoblasts. After activation, platelets and leukocytes release cytokines that promote bone regeneration. Also, the TGF- $\beta$ 1, present in PRF stimulates collagen and fibronectin synthesis, promoting bone regeneration. VEGF promotes angiogenesis, which is required for skeletal development. PDGFs and IGF-1 promote osteoblast proliferation and differentiation (29).

Recently, the application of PRF for treating IBD was compared to other available modalities in a recent systematic review by Miron et al. (30). They obtained comparable outcomes using open flap debridement (OFD)/PRF and OFD/ bone grafts (BG). Chen et al. (31) conveyed that the benefits of OFD+PRF are more significant than that of BG+PRF, considering radiographic bone fill and depth reduction as the primary outcomes.

#### The role of PRF in recession coverage (RC)

There is improved soft tissue healing because PRF membranes gradually and continuously release growth factors like VEGF, encouraging angiogenesis and accelerating tissue repair and regeneration by cell migration and repopulation in the injured site (32). When PRF was used with a coronally advanced flap for RC procedures, there was a decrease in matrix metalloproteinase-8 and interleukin beta levels but an increase in tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase-1 levels at ten days. As a result, the initial stages of the process result in increased periodontal wound healing (33).

According to a few studies, PRF significantly enhances patient-reported outcome measures, such as postoperative pain observation and discomfort (34,35). The use of PRF was not superior to alternative treatments for Miller Class I and II gingival recessions, according to a systematic review by Moraschini and Barboza Edos (36) regarding root coverage, keratinized mucosa width, or clinical attachment level.

#### The role of PRF in furcation defects

Because of the furcation location and the roots' uneven morphology, the biofilm is very challenging to access for oral hygiene procedures. Along with other well-known patient-related factors, including age, gender, smoking habit, and diabetes, the degree of furcation involvement is a risk factor for tooth loss. Several reconstructive periodontal surgical procedures and materials are used to treat these areas. Regenerative treatments are aimed at bone, cementum, and periodontal ligament regeneration in the furcation. When PRF is used, the growth factors stored in the granules are activated and released, aiding in bone regeneration (37). A systematic review and metaanalysis by Pepelassi and Deligianni (38) L-PRF demonstrated a significant clinical and radiographic additive effectiveness of OFD and osseous graft in teeth with furcation involvement. Also, in two- or three-walled periodontal endosseous defects in systemically healthy non-smokers, compared to those without L-PRF (38). PRF demonstrated better results than OFD alone in furcation treatment: however, it has fewer advantages as an adjunct to osseous graft. There is scarce literature available for any definitive conclusion regarding the combined effect of osseous graft and PRF. Also, the furcation defect studied was either maxillary or mandibular furcation with the variability of bone architecture and complexity of the furcation access.

#### Other uses of PRF

PRF has several other applications in other procedures, such as socket preservation - The regenerative potential in socket preservation and following the tooth extraction is beneficial. However, more evidence is required to confirm its effectiveness (39). In implant dentistry - PRF addition to the implant surface has been shown to increase the bone-implant contact and enhance bone regeneration to enhance healing, osseointegration, and thereby the stability of implants. This could reduce the treatment time interval between implant placement and loading.

Furthermore, it improves soft tissue thickness to increase stability and minimize marginal bone loss and mucogingival surgery (40). PRF in the form of a membrane is beneficial in the palatal donor sites while harvesting free gingival grafts. The growth factors in PRF positively influence angiogenesis, cellular proliferation, and mitogenesis of wound-healing cells at the surgical site, thereby promoting fast healing (41).

#### **Recent advances**

#### Albumin gel platelet-rich fibrin

One of the significant challenges faced with PRF was its 10-14 days period of resorption *in vivo*. To overcome this drawback, Kawase et al. (42) introduced a heat compression technique for PRF membranes used for guided tissue regeneration. However, this leads to a poor regeneration capacity as no cells or growth factors can withstand denaturation. Hence, a new technique was developed that reintroduces the platelet-rich layer from the buffy coat into heated PPP (albumin gel) after cooling (43).

Albumin gel platelet-rich fibrin (Alb-PRF) enhanced cell migration and proliferation, biocompatibility, the release of seven key growth factors, and collagen synthesis. Centrifugation was done in plastic tubes at 700 g for 8 min. The process involved in producing the albumin gel comprised collecting the PPP layer and subjecting it to a 10-minute heating at a temperature of 75 degrees Celsius. This was allowed to cool down for 10 min at room temperature. The PRF's higher cell and growth factor content and albumin gel's low resorption properties are combined in this procedure (44).

#### BIO-PRF (horizontal centrifugation protocol) / C-PRF

Liquid PRF tubes were used in the Bio-PRF horizontal centrifuge to create C-PRF. 3000×g centrifugation protocol (C-PRF protocol) for 5-8 minutes. The following benefits are observed using horizontal centrifugation;

A) It enables an improved cellular separation by allowing cells to travel easily throughout the blood layers. Compared to traditional approaches, there is a considerable increase in leukocyte and PC.

B) It is known as a "gentle centrifugation" because the cells along the back wall of centrifugation tubes sustain less damage when low forces are used to manufacture it (45).

#### Conclusion

For periodontal regenerative procedures, a range of surgical techniques, biomaterials, and BGs have been employed individually and in combination. PRF derived from autologous blood acts as a scaffold containing growth factors and living cells that potentiate wound healing and tissue regeneration. With its low cost, ease of preparation, and handling, PRF and its variants have emerged as potential regenerative materials with various applications in periodontics and other disciplines.

#### Ethics

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: D.S.J., N.S., Design: D.S.J., N.S., Data Collection or Processing: D.S.J., N.S., Literature Search: D.S.J., N.S., Writing: D.S.J., N.S.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

1. Saini K, Chopra P, Sheokand V. Journey of Platelet concentrates a review. Biomed Pharmacol J. 2020;13:185-191.

- 2. Preeja C, Arun S. Platelet-rich fibrin: Its role in periodontal regeneration. Saudi J Dent Res. 2014;5:117-122.
- Ross R, Glomset J, Kariya B, Harker L. A platelet-dependent serum factor that stimulates the proliferation of arterial smooth muscle cells in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1974;71:1207-1210.
- Dohan Ehrenfest DM, Rasmusson L, Albrektsson T. Classification of platelet concentrates: from pure platelet-rich plasma (P-PRP) to leucocyte- and platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF). Trends Biotechnol. 2009;27:158-167.
- Dohan DM, Choukroun J, Diss A, et al. Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part I: technological concepts and evolution. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101:e37-e44.
- Bielecki T, Dohan Ehrenfest DM. Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and Platelet-Rich Fibrin (PRF): surgical adjuvants, preparations for in situ regenerative medicine and tools for tissue engineering. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2012;13:1121-1130.
- Pavlovic V, Ciric M, Jovanovic V, Trandafilovic M, Stojanovic P. Platelet-rich fibrin: Basics of biological actions and protocol modifications. Open Med (Wars). 2021;16:446-454.
- Whitman DH, Berry RL, Green DM. Platelet gel: an autologous alternative to fibrin glue with applications in oral and maxillofacial surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;55:1294-1299.
- Marx RE, Carlson ER, Eichstaedt RM, et al. Platelet-rich plasma: growth factor enhancement for bone grafts. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1998;85:638-646.
- Kumar RV, Shubhashini N. Platelet rich fibrin: a new paradigm in periodontal regeneration. Cell Tissue Bank. 2013;14:453-463.
- Choukroun J, Adda F, Schoeffler C, et al. Une opportunité en paro-implantologie: le PRF. Implantodontie. 2001;42:55-62.
- Newman MG, Takei H, Klokkevold PR, Carranza FA. Newman and Carranza's Clinical periodontology E-book. 13th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2018.
- DeLong JM, Russell RP, Mazzocca AD. Platelet-rich plasma: the PAW classification system. Arthroscopy. 2012;28:998-1009.
- Mishra A, Harmon K, Woodall J, Vieira A. Sports medicine applications of platelet rich plasma. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2012;13:1185-1195.
- Mautner K, Malanga GA, Smith J, et al. A call for a standard classification system for future biologic research: the rationale for new PRP nomenclature. PM R. 2015;7:S53-S59.
- Magalon J, Chateau AL, Bertrand B, et al. DEPA classification: a proposal for standardising PRP use and a retrospective application of available devices. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2016;2:e000060.
- Lana JFSD, Purita J, Paulus C, et al. Contributions for classification of platelet rich plasma - proposal of a new classification: MARSPILL. Regen Med. 2017;12:565-574.
- Harrison P; Subcommittee on Platelet Physiology. The use of platelets in regenerative medicine and proposal for a new

classification system: guidance from the SSC of the ISTH. J Thromb Haemost. 2018;16:1895-1900.

- Saluja H, Dehane V, Mahindra U. Platelet-Rich fibrin: A second generation platelet concentrate and a new friend of oral and maxillofacial surgeons. Ann Maxillofac Surg. 2011;1:53-57.
- Kumar VR, Gangadharan G. Platelet rich fibrin in dentistry: a review of literature. Int J Med. 2015;3:72-76.
- Fujioka-Kobayashi M, Miron RJ. Biological components of platelet rich fibrin: Growth factor release and cellular activity. In: Platelet rich fibrin in regenerative dentistry: Biological background and clinical indications. 1st ed. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Ltd; 2017:15-31.
- Ghanaati S, Booms P, Orlowska A, et al. Advanced plateletrich fibrin: a new concept for cell-based tissue engineering by means of inflammatory cells. J Oral Implantol. 2014;40:679-689.
- 23. Miron RJ, Bishara M, Choukroun J. Basics of Platelet-Rich Fibrin Therapy. Dent Today. 2017;36:74-76.
- Jasmine S, Thangavelu A, Krishnamoorthy R, Alshatwi AA. Platelet Concentrates as Biomaterials in Tissue Engineering: a Review. Regen Eng Transl Med. 2021;7:419-431.
- Kobayashi E, Flückiger L, Fujioka-Kobayashi M, et al. Comparative release of growth factors from PRP, PRF, and advanced-PRF. Clin Oral Investig. 2016;20:2353-2360.
- Yewale M, Bhat S, Kamath A, Tamrakar A, Patil V, Algal AS. Advanced platelet-rich fibrin plus and osseous bone graft for socket preservation and ridge augmentation - A randomized control clinical trial. J Oral Biol Craniofac Res. 2021;11:225-233.
- Mourão CF, Valiense H, Melo ER, Mourão NB, Maia MD. Obtention of injectable platelets rich-fibrin (i-PRF) and its polymerization with bone graft: technical note. Rev Col Bras Cir. 2015;42:421-423.
- Tunalı M, Özdemir H, Küçükodacı Z, et al. A novel platelet concentrate: titanium-prepared platelet-rich fibrin. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:209548.
- Liu Y, Sun X, Yu J, et al. Platelet-Rich Fibrin as a Bone Graft Material in Oral and Maxillofacial Bone Regeneration: Classification and Summary for Better Application. Biomed Res Int. 2019;2019:3295756.
- Miron RJ, Moraschini V, Fujioka-Kobayashi M, et al. Use of platelet-rich fibrin for the treatment of periodontal intrabony defects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oral Investig. 2021;25:2461-2478.
- Chen L, Ding Y, Cheng G, Meng S. Use of Platelet-Rich Fibrin in the Treatment of Periodontal Intrabony Defects: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Biomed Res Int. 2021;2021:6669168.
- Rodas MAR, Paula BL, Pazmiño VFC, Lot Vieira FFDS, Junior JFS, Silveira EMV. Platelet-Rich Fibrin in Coverage of Gingival Recession: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Eur J Dent. 2020;14:315-326.
- Verma UP, Yadav RK, Dixit M, Gupta A. Platelet-rich Fibrin: A Paradigm in Periodontal Therapy - A Systematic Review. J Int Soc Prev Community Dent. 2017;7:227-233.

- Jasser AR, AlKudmani H, Andreana S. Platelet rich fibrin as a new approach in treating gingival recession: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Dent Oral Disord Ther. 2017;5:1-2.
- Mancini L, Tarallo F, Quinzi V, Fratini A, Mummolo S, Marchetti E. Platelet-Rich Fibrin in Single and Multiple Coronally Advanced Flap for Type 1 Recession: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Medicina (Kaunas). 2021;57:144.
- Moraschini V, Barboza Edos S. Use of Platelet-Rich Fibrin Membrane in the Treatment of Gingival Recession: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Periodontol. 2016;87:281-290.
- Panda S, Karanxha L, Goker F, et al. Autologous Platelet Concentrates in Treatment of Furcation Defects-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:1347.
- Pepelassi E, Deligianni M. The Adjunctive Use of Leucocyteand Platelet-Rich Fibrin in Periodontal Endosseous and Furcation Defects: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Materials (Basel). 2022;15:2088.
- Alrayyes Y, Al-Jasser R. Regenerative Potential of Platelet Rich Fibrin (PRF) in Socket Preservation in Comparison with Conventional Treatment Modalities: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2022;19:463-475.
- Lyris V, Millen C, Besi E, Pace-Balzan A. Effect of leukocyte and platelet rich fibrin (L-PRF) on stability of dental implants.

A systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2021;59:1130-1139.

- 41. Meza-Mauricio J, Furquim CP, Geldres A, et al. Is the use of platelet-rich fibrin effective in the healing, control of pain, and postoperative bleeding in the palatal area after free gingival graft harvesting? A systematic review of randomized clinical studies. Clin Oral Investig. 2021;25:4239-4249.
- 42. Kawase T, Kamiya M, Kobayashi M, et al. The heat-compression technique for the conversion of platelet-rich fibrin preparation to a barrier membrane with a reduced rate of biodegradation. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2015;103:825-831.
- Manjunatha VA, Damera TK, Kumar TK, Singh RJ, Popat T, Vala D. Novel albumin gel-platelet-rich fibrin mixture (Alb-PRF); where do we stand. Int J Clin Biochem Res. 2021;8:239-241.
- Fujioka-Kobayashi M, Miron RJ, Hernandez M, Kandalam U, Zhang Y, Choukroun J. Optimized Platelet-Rich Fibrin With the Low-Speed Concept: Growth Factor Release, Biocompatibility, and Cellular Response. J Periodontol. 2017;88:112-121.
- 45. Miron RJ, Chai J, Zheng S, Feng M, Sculean A, Zhang Y. A novel method for evaluating and quantifying cell types in platelet rich fibrin and an introduction to horizontal centrifugation. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2019;107:2257-2271.



DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2023.98598 Gulhane Med J 2023;65:108-14

## Maternal and paternal attachment levels in the prenatal period

#### 🛛 Meltem Uğurlu<sup>1</sup>, 🖾 Gizem Arslan<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Özhan Özdemir<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Midwifery, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Türkiye

### Date submitted: 23.12.2022

Date accepted: 24.02.2023

Online publication date: 15.09.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Meltem Uğurlu, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Midwifery, Ankara, Türkiye +90 555 580 78 41 meltemugurlu17@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9183-219X

**Keywords:** Prenatal attachment, maternal attachment, paternal attachment

**Presented in:** This study was presented as an oral abstract (summary) at the 10<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Women and Child Health and Education on 19-20 November 2022.

#### ABSTRACT

Aims: This study determined maternal and paternal attachment levels and the factors affecting attachment during the prenatal period.

**Methods:**This descriptive study included pregnant women aged 18 to 48 years and their spouses admitted to a follow-up clinic. Women with risky pregnancies were excluded. Attachment was assessed using the maternal antenatal attachment scale (MAAS) and the paternal antenatal attachment scale (PAAS). The primary outcomes were the maternal and paternal attachment levels and the factors affecting attachment during the prenatal period.

**Results:** The study population consisted of 100 pregnant women and their spouses, totaling 200 individuals [age, mean±standard deviation:  $27.8\pm5.1$  years, prospective mothers;  $31.5\pm5.9$  years, prospective fathers]. The mean MAAS score was  $77.87\pm8.08$ , and the mean PAAS score was  $63.7\pm8.2$ . There was a statistically significant correlation between the total MAAS and PAAS scores (r=0.279, p=0.005). Also, mean scores of the subdimensions of quality of attachment (r=0.203, p=0.042) and time spent on attachment (r=0.236, p=0.018) of the MAAS and PAAS showed correlations. We observed that 48% of the pregnant women saw their babies with their spouses on ultrasound. Median MAAS score [81 (56 to 93) vs. 77 (45 to 93), p=0.002] and PAAS score [66.5 (54 to 77) vs. 61 (41 to 79), p=0.015] of the expectant mothers and fathers who saw their babies together on the ultrasound were higher than couples who did not see their babies on the ultrasound together.

**Conclusions:** This study showed a significant relationship between maternal and paternal attachment levels of couples in the prenatal period.

#### Introduction

Attachment is an emotional and loving bond that starts between the parents and the fetus in the prenatal period (1). In this period, prospective mothers and fathers begin to bond with the fetus with the development of adaptation to parenting roles (2). The level of attachment in the prenatal period affects the biological, psychological, and behavioral fetal development of the fetus throughout its life (3-5) and the parent-child relations after birth (6,7). Maternal attachment in the prenatal period is the emotion, feeling, and love that a mother feels for her unborn baby (8,9). The level of maternal attachment affects maternal and infant health (9,10). There is a linear relationship between maternal attachment and the infant's cognitive, emotional, psychological, and social development (11,12). This bond between the mother and fetus begins when the woman learns that she is pregnant and increases when the fetal movements start (12,13). Sociodemographic characteristics, acceptance of pregnancy,



and mental health affect the quality of attachment (1,9,10,14). An increase is observed in adaptation to the role of motherhood and positive health behaviors in women with high levels of attachment, whereas women with low attachment levels show negative health behaviors (8,10,15,16) and, consequently, many fetal and neonatal complications may develop (14).

Paternal attachment, on the other hand, is defined as the love and care that the father feels toward his unborn baby (17,18). Similar to maternal attachment, paternal attachment impacts the infant's behavioral, emotional, and developmental outcomes (18-20). Paternal attachment begins to be established in the prenatal period and continues to increase with the first physical contact with the baby after birth (21). Factors like sociodemographic characteristics, maternal obstetric status, and father's mental health affect paternal attachment (5,22). Fathers with a high level of paternal attachment adapt better to parenting roles, support the mother more in all processes, and increase their participation in the care of the baby in the postpartum period (17,20). Paternal attachment level is also effective in alleviating mothers' need for analgesia at birth, breastfeeding problems, and postpartum psychological problems (5).

The cognitive, emotional, psychological, and social development starts in the prenatal period and continues throughout life. It is important to evaluate the quality of maternal and paternal attachment in the prenatal period and to intervene when necessary because the level and quality of attachment can affect the development of the fetus and the newborn (6,22). Although studies in the literature generally focus on maternal attachment (6), studies have also focused on paternal attachment as the effects of paternal attachment on the fetus and the newborn have been determined, and there has been an increase in fathers' participation in infant care (4). This study investigated maternal and paternal attachment levels and the factors affecting attachment.

#### Methods

This descriptive study included pregnant women and their spouses admitted to the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Obstetrics and Gynecology Polyclinic for antenatal follow-up between February and December 2021. The inclusion criteria of the participants in the sample were being between the ages of 18 and 49, being able to read and write Turkish, having a healthy and single pregnancy, having a spontaneous pregnancy, and not having any psychiatric disease. The exclusion criteria were risky pregnancies, multiple pregnancies, and women diagnosed with psychiatric illness. We recruited consecutive couples who met the inclusion criteria and volunteered to participate in the study.

The power of the study was calculated using G\*Power 3.1.9.7. After the data collection process, post hoc power analysis was performed to determine the statistical power. A

sample of 100 pregnant women was sufficient at the 0.05 level of alfa error with a 95% confidence interval and 89.7% power according to the post hoc power analysis.

#### **Data Collection Tools**

The Descriptive Information Form and the Maternal Antenatal Attachment Scale (MAAS) (12) were used to collect data from prospective mothers, and the Paternal Antenatal Attachment Scale (PAAS) (18) was used to collect data from prospective fathers.

#### The descriptive information form

The form was prepared by the researchers in line with the literature (6,7,10,16,20). It includes 20 questions such as the age of women and their spouses, educational status of women and spouses, employment status, income status, duration of marriage, the quality of relationship with the spouse, being willingly pregnant, number of pregnancies, gestational week, desired and current baby gender, and breastfeeding and receiving prenatal care to reveal the sociodemographic and obstetric characteristics of the participants.

#### Maternal antenatal attachment scale

The scale was developed by Condon (23) in 1993. A Turkish validity and reliability study of the scale was carried out by Golbasi et al. (12) in 2015. The scale consists of 19 items examining the feelings, attitudes, and behaviors of a prospective mother toward the fetus. Each item of the five-point Likert-type scale is scored between 1 and 5. The scale has two sub-dimensions: "quality of attachment" (items 3, 6, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 19) and "time spent on attachment" (items 1, 2, 4, 5, 8, 14, 17, 18). Since item 7 does not affect any sub-dimension, it is used only in calculating the total score. Items 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 12, 15, 16, and 18 are reverse codes. The scale does not have any cutoff value. Higher scores indicate higher levels of attachment (12,23).

#### Paternal antenatal attachment scale

The scale was developed by Condon (23) in 1993, and the Turkish validity and reliability study was conducted by Benli and Aksoy Derya (18) in 2019. The five-point Likert-type scale consists of 16 items measuring the father's feelings toward and thoughts about the baby. Items 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 12, 13, and 15 are reverse-coded. The scale consists of two sub-dimensions: "quality of attachment" (items 2, 3, 7, 9, 11, 12, 15, 16) and "time spent on attachment" (items 1, 4, 5, 6, 8, 10, 13, 14). The scale does not have a cutoff value. Higher scores indicate higher levels of attachment (18,23).

#### **Data Collection**

After informing the participants about the importance, purpose and method of the study face-to-face, the data collection forms were administered to the pregnant women who agreed to participate in the study. The expectant mothers filled out the data collection forms on paper in an empty room in the polyclinic. It took about 10-15 minutes for them to fill out the forms. After the expectant mothers completed the forms, the PAAS, which the prospective fathers should fill out, was turned into an online scale via Google Forms by the researchers. The link to the online scale was sent to the expectant mothers on WhatsApp, and they shared the online scale with their husbands. It took 10 to 15 minutes for prospective fathers to complete the scale.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Statistics for Windows, version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY: USA, 2013). Number, percentage, mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, and maximum values were calculated for descriptive statistics. The normality of continuous variables was evaluated with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The independent samples t-test and one-way ANOVA were used to compare the scores showing normal distribution. The Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare the variables showing a non-normal distribution. Correlations were evaluated by calculating Spearman's coefficients. The level of statistical significance was set at 0.05.

#### Outcomes

The primary outcomes were maternal and paternal attachment levels and their relationship in the prenatal period. The secondary outcome was the factors affecting maternal and paternal attachment in the prenatal period.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval for the research was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Scientific Research Ethics Committee (date: 14.01.2021, decision no: 2021-24). After explaining the importance, purpose, and research methods, voluntary prospective mothers provided signed consent. An informed consent form was delivered to the prospective fathers on the screen when they clicked on the link for the online data collection form. Those who gave consent to participate were allowed to fill in the form.

#### Results

The study included 100 pregnant women and their spouses, totaling 200 individuals. The mean age of the pregnant women in the study was  $27.8\pm5.1$  years, the mean age of the prospective fathers was  $31.5\pm5.9$  years, and the duration of marriage was  $5.0\pm4.7$  years on average. The mean gestational week of the pregnant women was  $26.2\pm11.4$ .

Table 1 shows the comparison of maternal and paternal attachment levels according to sociodemographic characteristics. There was no significant difference between maternal and paternal attachment levels according to sociodemographic characteristics, including the mother's age, educational level and employment status, father's age, family income, place of residence and family type (p>0.05). The level of maternal attachment showed a statistically significant difference (p=0.036) according to the educational level of the father and the difference was related to fathers who graduated from primary school and those with a university or higher degree.

Table 2 shows maternal and paternal attachment levels according to the obstetric characteristics and pregnancy followup. No statistically significant difference was found between maternal and paternal attachment levels according to the number of pregnancies, miscarriage history, gestational week, having a planned pregnancy, feeling the baby's movements, the quality of the relationship between the mother and the father, the gender of the baby, and the presence of the spouse in the follow-ups (p<0.05). A statistically significant difference was found between maternal attachment (p=0.022) and paternal attachment (p=0.015) levels according to seeing the baby on ultrasound with the spouse.

The mean MAAS score of the prospective mothers was 77.87±8.08. The mean score of the quality of attachment subdimension of the maternal attachment scale was  $43.12\pm4.25$  and the mean score of the time spent on attachment subdimension was  $30.28\pm4.58$ . The mean PAAS score of the prospective fathers was  $63.70\pm8.22$ . The mean score of the quality of attachment sub-dimension of the paternal attachment scale was  $35.64\pm3.65$  and the mean score of the time spent on attachment sub-dimension was  $28.06\pm5.59$ . We observed a positive correlation between the total mean maternal and paternal attachment scores (r=0.279, p=0.005). We also observed a statistically significant correlation between the quality of attachment (r=0.203, p=0.042) and time spent on attachment (r=0.236, p=0.018) sub-dimensions of maternal and paternal attachment scales.

#### **Discussion**

A significant relationship was found between the mean total score of maternal attachment levels in the prenatal period and the mean scores on the subdimensions of quality of attachment and the time spent on attachment. As prenatal maternal attachment levels increased, paternal attachment levels also increased. It was determined that the maternal and paternal attachment levels of the couples who saw the baby with their spouses on ultrasound were significantly higher.

During pregnancy, parents form a mental and emotional bond with their unborn baby. This bond represents the mother's and father's awareness of their unborn baby, their desire to be with the baby and their interactions. Prenatal attachment is also considered the earliest form of parenting (18,24). This study revealed a positive and significant relationship between prenatal maternal and paternal attachment levels.

Table 1. Comparison of m	naternal an	d paternal attachment scale sco	res accordir	ng to some sociodemographic ch	aracteristics	
		Maternal attachment scale <sup>#</sup> (n=100)	р	Paternal attachment scale <sup>#</sup> (n=100)	р	
Mother's age	n (%)					
18-30	71 (71)	79 (45-93)	— 0.228ª	64 (41-79)	— 0.584ª	
31 and above	29 (29)	78 (56-86)	- 0.228	63 (49-76)		
Father's age						
18-30	51 (51)	79 (60-93)	— 0.709ª	65 (41-78)	— 0.490ª	
31 and above	49 (49)	79 (45-93)	— 0.709ª	63 (46-79)	— 0.490°	
Mother's education level						
Primary school	25 (25)	75 (64-85)		75.28±9.38ª		
High school	38 (38)	80.5 (45-89)	0.426 <sup>b</sup>	77.47±7.88 <sup>ab</sup>	0.711°	
University and higher	37 (37)	81 (56-93)		80.43±6.41 <sup>b</sup>		
Father's education level						
Primary school	29 (29)	75.2±9.3 <sup>×</sup>		64.5±9.4		
High school	36 (36)	77.4±7.8 <sup>xy</sup>	0.036°	63.0±7.4	0.776°	
University and above	35 (35)	80.4±6.4 <sup>y</sup>		63.6±8.0		
Mother's working status						
Yes	84 (84)	78±8.29	0.000d	64.1±6.1	0 707d	
No	16 (16)	77.85±8.09	— 0.069 <sup>d</sup>	63.6±8.5	— 0.797 <sup>d</sup>	
Family Income status						
Income less than expenses	30 (30)	77 (60-91)		63.4±8.1		
Income equals expenses	60 (60)	80 (45-93)	0.110 <sup>b</sup>	63.7±8.4	0.966°	
Income more than expenses	10 (10)	83 (71-88)		64.2±7.7		
Place of residence						
City center	89 (89)	78.0±8.1	0.0004	64.2±8.2	0.050d	
Town	11 (11)	76.7±7.4	— 0.622 <sup>d</sup>	59.1±7.2	— 0.053 <sup>d</sup>	
Family type						
Nuclear	90 (90)	80.0 (45-93)	0 4570	63.5±8.1	0.0004	
Extended	10 (10)	75.5 (60-85)	— 0.157ª	64.7±9.6	— 0.688 <sup>d</sup>	

\*: Data are shown mean±standard deviation, and median (minimum-maximum) otherwise specified.

<sup>a</sup>: Mann-Whitney U, <sup>b</sup>: Kruskal-Wallis, <sup>c</sup>: One-Way ANOVA (for analysis post-hoc Tukey), <sup>d</sup>: Independent two-sample t-test, <sup>xy</sup>: There is no difference between groups with the same letter

In the current study, the paternal attachment level increased parallel to the maternal attachment. Ustunsoz et al. (25) reported a significant relationship between maternal-fetal attachment and paternal fetal attachment in the prenatal period. Thus, it can be suggested that the attachment levels of couples are positively affected by each other, and interventions such as focusing on fetal movements, improving social support, and reducing parents' anxiety levels aimed at increasing maternal or paternal attachment levels may contribute positively to the attachment levels of both parents.

The present study showed no difference between the maternal attachment levels of the couples according to their sociodemographic characteristics such as age, employment status, family income level, place of residence, and family type. Some studies examining the level of maternal attachment reported that age (14,26,27), level of education (26-28), and economic status (27) affect maternal attachment. Some studies found that the level of education (16,25), employment (26), and income status (16) of pregnant women were not related to maternal attachment. Our study revealed that the educational level of the spouse was associated with maternal attachment, and the prenatal maternal attachment level of pregnant women whose spouses were university graduates was significantly higher than those whose spouses were primary school graduates. Ustunsoz et al. (25) reported that as the level of education of the prospective father increases, the level of maternal attachment increases. More research on the effects of sociodemographic characteristics on maternal attachment level is required, however, the role of the educational status of the spouse seems important.

Our study found that maternal attachment did not differ according to parity, gestational week, number of miscarriages, having a planned pregnancy, feeling fetal movements, fetal gender, spouse's participation in antenatal follow-ups, and the quality of the relationship between the women and the spouse. Some studies examining maternal attachment also showed that parity (14), gestational week (14), having a planned pregnancy (26,27), history of miscarriage/curettage (27,29), and satisfaction with the partner (26) did not affect maternal attachment. However, some studies reported that gestational week (16,27,29), number of pregnancies (16,29), number of children (16), having a planned pregnancy (26,29), feeling fetal movements (30,31), and satisfaction with the partner (32) affected maternal attachment levels. It has also been reported that having a female fetus and having the desired gender affects maternal attachment (29). Ample evidence is needed to conclude the effects of obstetrics characteristics and the quality of the marital relationship on maternal attachment level.

This study showed that paternal attachment level did not differ according to sociodemographic, obstetric, and other characteristics, except after seeing the baby on ultrasound. Similar studies on paternal attachment revealed that factors

Table 2. Comparison of the maternal and paternal attachment scale scores according to the obstetric characteristics and pregnancy follow-up

	n (%)	Maternal attachment scale <sup>#</sup> (n=100)	р	Paternal attachment scale <sup>#</sup> (n=100)	р	
Number of pregnancie	s					
1	42 (42)	79.6±7.1		64.6±8.5		
2	36 (36)	77.6±7.6	0.093°	63.3±6.5	0.627℃	
3 and over	22 (22)	75.0±9.7	_	62.4±10.1	_	
History of miscarriage	,					
Yes	17 (17)	76 (45-89)	— 0.093ª	62.1±8.7	— 0.405 <sup>d</sup>	
No	83 (83)	80 (56-93)	- 0.093*	64.0±8.1	0.405	
Gestational week						
1 <sup>st</sup> trimester	19 (19)	77 (64-93)		61 (49-77)		
2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester	24 (24)	81 (64-89)	0.296 <sup>b</sup>	67.5 (51-79)	0.305 <sup>b</sup>	
3 <sup>rd</sup> trimester	57 (57)	79 (45-93)		63 (41-78)		
Planned pregnancy						
Yes	86 (86)	78.6±7.3	— 0.076 <sup>d</sup>	64.3±8.0	— 0.050 <sup>d</sup>	
No	14 (14)	73.1±10.6	- 0.076-	59.7±8.3	0.000	
Feeling baby moveme	nts					
Yes	70 (70)	80 (45-93)	— 0.695ª	63.6±8.7	0.0594	
No	30 (30)	78.5 (69-93)	0.095	63.7±6.8	— 0.958 <sup>d</sup>	
Quality of the relations	ship with the sp	ouse				
Good	85 (85)	79.2±6.9	— 0.427 <sup>d</sup>	63.9±8.1	— 0.427 <sup>d</sup>	
Moderate/poor	15 (15)	70.0±9.5	- 0.427°	62.1±8.6	— 0.427°	
Baby's gender						
Girl	34 (34)	78.5 (45-93)		63.5±8.6		
Воу	34 (34)	80 (56-91)	0.938 <sup>b</sup>	64.2±8.2	0.864°	
Unknown	32 (32)	79 (64-93)		63.2±7.9		
Spouse's attendance a	at the follow-ups	;				
Yes	76 (76)	79 (56-93)	— 0.926ª	63.5 (41-78)	0.2043	
No	24 (24)	79.5 (45-89)	- 0.920°	63 (47-79)	— 0.381ª	
Seeing the baby on ul	trasound with th	e spouse				
Yes	48 (48)	81 (56-93)	— 0.022ª	66.5 (54-77)	0.0453	
No	52 (52)	77 (45-93)	0.022"	61 (41-79)	— 0.015ª	

<sup>a</sup>: Mann-Whitney U, <sup>b</sup>Kruskal-Wallis, <sup>c</sup>: One-Way ANOVA (for analysis post-hoc Tukey), <sup>d</sup>: Independent two-sample t-test

such as the spouse's age (25), mother's level of education (25), mother's employment status (33), number of children (33), having a planned pregnancy, and participation in prenatal courses (33) affected paternal attachment level. There are also studies stating that the level of paternal attachment does not differ according to factors such as the gender of the fetus, the desired gender of the fetus, having a planned pregnancy, and the quality of the relationship with the spouse (20). In this respect, the factors affecting the paternal attachment level in the prenatal period are still unclear. However, couples' level of education might impact a planned pregnancy.

One of the remarkable findings of our study is that both maternal and paternal attachment levels of couples who see their babies together on ultrasound are significantly higher. Türkmen and Güler (33) reported that fathers who attended antenatal follow-ups and pregnancy classes with their spouses had a significantly higher level of attachment. Øyen and Aune (34) found that ultrasound examination strengthens the attachment level of a mother to her baby. In the same study, prospective mothers preferred to attend the ultrasound examination with their spouses. Coté et al. (35) emphasized that 3D ultrasonography using 3D printed models was effective on maternal and paternal attachment levels. A systematic review of the effects of imaging techniques on parent-fetal bonds in antenatal follow-up showed a positive relationship (36). Thus, our findings are consistent with the literature. Today, obstetric ultrasound is frequently used in antenatal follow-ups. Fathers attending antenatal follow-ups may have higher responsibility toward their babies and better intrafamilial communication. Seeing the baby on ultrasound offers the opportunity to witness real-time and moving images of babies and to screen for abnormalities in the baby's development (37). Including spouses in antenatal follow-ups and ultrasound examinations may be beneficial in improving the attachment guality of parents. It is recommended that healthcare providers should include both pregnant women and their spouses in the antenatal follow-ups and raise awareness about the importance of seeing the baby on ultrasound.

#### **Study Limitations**

There are some limitations to our study. First, since the questionnaires were delivered to prospective fathers using an online platform, some fathers did not fill in the form causing insufficient data in some cases. Second, the data were collected using scales based on self-reports.

#### Conclusion

Promoting maternal and paternal attachment during the prenatal period can play a significant role in improving maternal and newborn outcomes. Determining the factors affecting the attachment level of the mother and father to the fetus may be important for the physical, emotional, and psychological development of the child. Therefore, mothers and fathers can be provided with interdisciplinary support. Including fathers in antenatal follow-ups and seeing the baby with the mother on ultrasound may positively impact the pregnancy. In this regard, it is considered important to increase the awareness of healthcare professionals about the importance of including fathers in antenatal follow-ups. Larger studies including different populations may help gain better insights into the factors affecting the attachment levels of prospective parents.

#### Ethics

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study protocol was approved by the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Scientific Research Ethics Committee (date: 14.01.2021, no: 2021/24).

**Informed Consent:** Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: M.U., G.A., Ö.Ö., Design: M.U., Data Collection or Processing: M.U., G.A., Ö.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: M.U., Ö.Ö., Literature Search: M.U., G.A., Ö.Ö., Writing: M.U., G.A., Ö.Ö.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- 1. Ponti L, Smorti M, Ghinassi S, Tani F. The relationship between romantic and prenatal maternal attachment: The moderating role of social support. Int J Psychol. 2021;56:143-150.
- Witte AM, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, van IJzendoorn MH, Szepsenwol O, Shai D. Predicting infant-father attachment: the role of pre- and postnatal triadic family alliance and paternal testosterone levels. Attach Hum Dev. 2020;22:653-667.
- Glover V, Capron L. Prenatal parenting. Curr Opin Psychol. 2017;15:66-70.
- Manav AI, Gozuyesil E, Tar E. The Effects of the Parenting Education Performed through Whatsapp on the Level of Maternal-Paternal and Infant Attachment in Turkey. J Pediatr Nurs. 2021;61:e57-e64.
- 5. Lagarto A, Duaso MJ. Fathers' experiences of fetal attachment: A qualitative study. Infant Ment Health J. 2022;43:328-339.
- Göbel A, Stuhrmann LY, Harder S, Schulte-Markwort M, Mudra S. The association between maternal-fetal bonding and prenatal anxiety: An explanatory analysis and systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2018;239:313-327.
- 7. Della Vedova AM, Burro R. Surveying prenatal attachment in fathers: the Italian adaptation of the Paternal Antenatal

Attachment Scale (PAAS-IT). J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2017;35:493-508.

- Tichelman E, Westerneng M, Witteveen AB, et al. Correlates of prenatal and postnatal mother-to-infant bonding quality: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0222998.
- McNamara J, Townsend ML, Herbert JS. A systemic review of maternal wellbeing and its relationship with maternal fetal attachment and early postpartum bonding. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0220032.
- Maddahi MS, Dolatian M, Khoramabadi M, Talebi A. Correlation of maternal-fetal attachment and health practices during pregnancy with neonatal outcomes. Electron Physician. 2016;8:2639-2644.
- Bilgin NÇ, Ak B, Ayhan F, Koçyiğit FÖ, Yorgun S, Topçuoğlu MA. Effects of childbirth education on prenatal adaptation, prenatal and maternal attachment. Anatol J Fam Med. 2020;3:128-135.
- Golbasi Z, Ucar T, Tugut N. Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Maternal Antenatal Attachment Scale. Jpn J Nurs Sci. 2015;12:154-161.
- Persico G, Antolini L, Vergani P, Costantini W, Nardi MT, Bellotti L. Maternal singing of lullabies during pregnancy and after birth: Effects on mother-infant bonding and on newborns' behaviour. Concurrent Cohort Study. Women Birth. 2017;30:e214-e220.
- Hopkins J, Miller JL, Butler K, Gibson L, Hedrick L, Boyle DA. The relation between social support, anxiety and distress symptoms and maternal fetal attachment. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2018;36:381-392.
- Delavari M, Mohammad-Alizadeh-Charandabi S, Mirghafourvand M. The Relationship of Maternal-Fetal Attachment and Postpartum Depression: A Longitudinal Study. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 2018;32:263-267.
- Ulu PG, Bayraktar S. Investigation of variables related to prenatal bonding levels in pregnant women. Yeni Symposium. 2018;56:1-8.
- Nosraty A, Mirzakhani K, Golmakani N, Esmaeili H, Asghari Nekah SM. Effect of attachment training on paternal-fetal attachment. J Midwifery Reprod Health. 2019;7:1615-1622.
- Benli TE, Aksoy Derya Y. Turkish validity and reliability study of Paternal Antenatal Attachment Scale. Perspect Psychiatr Care. 2021;57:295-303.
- Olsavsky AL, Berrigan MN, Schoppe-Sullivan SJ, Brown GL, Kamp Dush CM. Paternal stimulation and father-infant attachment. Attach Hum Dev. 2020;22:15-26.
- Nosrati A, Mirzakhani K, Golmakani N, Asghari Nekah SM, Esmaeili H. The Effect of paternal-fetal attachment training on marital satisfaction during pregnancy. J Midwifery Reprod Health. 2018;6:1132-1140.
- Noh NI, Yeom HA. Development of the Korean Paternal-Fetal Attachment Scale (K-PAFAS). Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci). 2017;11:98-106.
- Silva RH, Romero MM, Bedregal GP, Fernández BN, Schulin-Zeuthen FJ. Vínculo prenatal paterno desde la perspectiva

materna [Paternal-fetal attachment from the maternal perspective]. Andes Pediatr. 2022;93:336-342.

- Condon JT. The assessment of antenatal emotional attachment: development of a questionnaire instrument. Br J Med Psychol. 1993;66:167-183.
- Hicks LM, Dayton CJ, Brown S, Muzik M, Raveau H. Mindfulness moderates depression and quality of prenatal attachment in expectant parents. Mindfulness. 2018;9:1604-1614.
- Ustunsoz A, Guvenc G, Akyuz A, Oflaz F. Comparison of maternal-and paternal-fetal attachment in Turkish couples. Midwifery. 2010;26:e1-e9.
- Ossa X, Bustos L, Fernandez L. Prenatal attachment and associated factors during the third trimester of pregnancy in Temuco, Chile. Midwifery. 2012;28:e689-e696.
- da Rosa KM, Scholl CC, Ferreira LA, et al. Maternal-fetal attachment and perceived parental bonds of pregnant women. Early Hum Dev. 2021;154:105310.
- Lindgren K. Relationships among maternal-fetal attachment, prenatal depression, and health practices in pregnancy. Res Nurs Health. 2001;24:203-217.
- Ucar T, Sabanci E, Karataş Okyay E. The Effect of interconceptional duration on maternal fetal attachment and psychosocial health. JOCREHES. 2018;8:75-88.
- Güney E, Uçar T. Effect of the fetal movement count on maternal-fetal attachment. Jpn J Nurs Sci. 2019;16:71-79.
- Salehi K, Salehi Z, Shaali M. The Effect of Education of Fetal Movement Counting on Maternal-Fetal Attachment in the Pregnant Women: a Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. Int J Pediatr. 2017;5:4699-4706.
- Matthies LM, Müller M, Doster A, et al. Maternal-fetal attachment protects against postpartum anxiety: the mediating role of postpartum bonding and partnership satisfaction. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2020;301:107-117.
- Türkmen H, Güler S. Factors Affecting Intrauterine Paternal-Foetal Attachment and the Responsibility Status of Fathers Concerning Mothers and Babies. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2022;40:451-464.
- Øyen L, Aune I. Viewing the unborn child pregnant women's expectations, attitudes and experiences regarding fetal ultrasound examination. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2016;7:8-13.
- Coté JJ, Coté BP, Badura-Brack AS. 3D printed models in pregnancy and its utility in improving psychological constructs: a case series. 3D Print Med. 2022;8:16.
- Skelton E, Webb R, Malamateniou C, Rutherford M, Ayers S. The impact of antenatal imaging on parent experience and prenatal attachment: a systematic review. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2022:1-23.
- Westerneng M, Diepeveen M, Witteveen AB, et al. Experiences of pregnant women with a third trimester routine ultrasound - a qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19:319.



### The relationship of food addiction with carbohydrate intake and stress in adolescents

#### Mine Tosun<sup>1</sup>, Burcu Alan Ersöz<sup>2</sup>, Nesli Ersoy<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Hacettepe University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 15.11.2022

Date accepted: 17.01.2023

Online publication date: 15.09.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nesli Ersoy, Hacettepe University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye +90 530 884 66 93 nesli.arpaci@hacettepe.edu.tr

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0391-8848

Keywords: Food addiction, obesity, adolescents

#### ABSTRACT

**Aims:** Overweight and obesity in adulthood relate to factors at younger ages in some individuals. This study investigated the relationship of food addiction (FA) with carbohydrate intake and stress in adolescents.

**Methods:** A single-center cross-sectional study was performed using a questionnaire that included basic characteristics, anthropometric measurements (weight, height, body mass index), Yale Food Addiction Scale (YFAS), Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS 21), and the food frequency questionnaire for the consumption of high carbohydrates and sugar-containing foods.

**Results:** The study included 192 adolescents (146 female and 46 male) aged between 12 and 19 years. FA was detected in 8.9% of the participants. Female adolescents had a higher prevalence of FA than male adolescents (female: 10.3%; male: 4.3%, p=0.217). FA was not observed in any underweight individuals, while its prevalence was 14.3% in obese individuals. The YFAS score was  $2.7\pm1.8$ , and the presence of FA was significantly related to YFAS (p<0.001). Foods that individuals with FA had the most problems with were chocolate/wafer, chips (52.9%), white bread (41.2%), deep-fried dough desserts, hamburgers/pita/lahmacun/doner, and frizzy drinks/coke (35.3%) (p<0.05). Of the food-addicted participants, 88.2% had moderate, severe, or extremely severe levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. YFAS score correlated with stress (r=0.472, p<0.001), depression (r=0.458, p<0.001), and anxiety (r=0.528, p<0.001).

**Conclusions:** The results of this study suggest that high sugar content related to carbohydrates in foods might have addictive effects on adolescents.

#### Introduction

Foods with high sugar content affect the brain reward system and may lead to food addiction (FA) by increasing the tendency toward more sugary food consumption (1). Processed foods with high refined sugar content may cause addiction and play a critical role in the pathogenesis of obesity by activating hedonic mechanisms (2). However, the addictive effect of sugar is an emerging topic, and the information on it is limited (3). Recently, adolescents' increasing consumption of sugary foods and their increasing obesity rates, as well as the fact that these sugary foods cause addictive behavioral changes, have led researchers to investigate the potential addictive impact of excessive consumption of sugar-containing food by adolescents (4). Jastreboff et al. (5) stated that the brain responses of obese adolescents who consumed glucose and fructose-sweetened beverages differed from those of underweight adolescents and that the control response against the consumption of these refined sugars may have decreased, which may further maintain their consumption.

Recent studies showed that uncontrolled and chronic stress also causes changes in eating behavior and obesity development indirectly by affecting the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axes, which control eating behavior (6). Chronic stress can disrupt the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis, followed by changes in neuropeptide Y, insulin, and cortisol levels, and ultimately increase metabolic risk factors (7). Moreover, chronic stress can disrupt the reward system and increase the desire for delicious



<sup>©</sup>Copyright 2023 by author. Gülhane Medical Journal is owned by the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye and published by Galenos Publishing House. Licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.

foods (8). Consuming delicious foods may show a relaxing effect in the presence of stress, and individuals may tend to increase food consumption as a stress response (9). Chronic stress causes compulsive eating behavior, which is the most prominent feature of FA. Posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms correlate with FA and the risk of being overweight or obese (10). Therefore, FA may contribute to stress-induced obesity (6). The relationship between emotional changes (especially stress) and eating behavior and its effects on anthropometric measurements has been extensively examined in adults. Along with this study, we determined whether there is FA among adolescents by surveying the consumption desire and consumption frequency of sugar-containing foods and carbohydrates and evaluated its relationship with stress, anxiety, depression, and anthropometric measurements. The hypotheses of the study were as follows: FA increases in stress, anxiety, and depression, and is related to body mass index (BMI).

#### Methods

In this single-center, cross-sectional study, we enrolled adolescents who voluntarily agreed to participate and/or were allowed to participate by their parents/guardians. The participants were 12-19 years of age and the study period was between 20.01.2021 and 20.06.2022. Concerning the required sample size, taking alpha error 0.05 and expected power beta=0.80, 192 participants were sufficient to test a clinically significant difference in YFAS symptom score (2.1±1.8) as shown by Tompkins et al. (11). Adolescents below 12 or above 19 years of age or those who required a restricted diet were excluded.

The study was conducted online because of the Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. To enroll participants, we prepared a social media flyer and contacted the parents/ guardians of the participants.

The study questionnaire consisted of general characteristics (e.g., sex, age), anthropometric measures (e.g., weight, height, BMI), Yale Food Addiction Scale (YFAS) (12), Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS 21) (13), and sections including carbohydrate and sugary food consumption frequency.

#### Anthropometric measurements

In the online survey form, through detailed information and visuals, the participants (or their parents) recorded their actual weight and height. Participants were divided into groups according to age- and sex-specific BMI percentiles (World Health Organization MGRS, 2007) (14).

#### Carbohydrate and sugary food consumption frequency

We prepared a food consumption questionnaire taking the literature findings as a reference. The form surveyed the frequency of food consumption in the last month, including carbohydrate and sugar content. The foods were recorded under 24 categories as "White bread and types", "Bran bread and types", "Rice, pasta, noodles, bulgur, etc.," "Pastries such as borek (yufka-based salty), bagels, acma, pogaca (doughbased salty), etc.", "Breakfast cereals (cornflake, etc.)", "Toast, sandwich", "Pizza, lahmacun, pita, hamburger, etc.," "Salted snacks (crackers, etc.)", "Cookies, sweet biscuits", "Cake derivatives", "Dough desserts (baklava, tulumba, dessert with syrup, etc.)", "Milk desserts (rice pudding, custard, etc.)", "Fruit desserts (quince dessert, etc.)", "Ice cream, milkshake", "Coke and frizzy drinks with sugar (soda with fruit flavor, fruit juice, ice tea, etc.)", "Coke and frizzy drinks with artificial sweetener, etc.," "Packaged fruit juice", "Fresh fruit juice", "Energy/sports drinks", "Coffee with sugar and/or flavor", "Candies and jellies", "Chocolate, wafer", "Honey, marmalade, molasse, hazelnut butter, etc." and "fruits". The frequency of consumption was defined in 8 categories: every day, 1-2 times a week, 3-4 times a week, 5-6 times a week, 1 in 15 days, 1 in a month, or rarely and never.

#### Yale Food Addiction Scale

We used the YFAS to determine FA, which was developed based on the diagnostic criteria of the symptoms of substance addiction from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 4<sup>th</sup> edition by Gearhardt et al. (12). Its validity and reliability were previously reported in adults (15) and adolescents (16,17). The YFAS 25-point guestionnaire assesses addiction symptoms and food consumption in the last 12 months. The symptoms are as follows: "taking more substance than planned and for a longer period", "irresistible desire or repeated and unsuccessful withdrawal attempts", "spending more time/performance for obtaining, using, and recovering", "reducing or stopping important social, professional, or entertainment activities", "continuing to use despite knowing negative results", "developing tolerance (significant increase in amount, significant decrease in effect)", "showing typical withdrawal symptoms, continuing to use the substance to relieve the withdrawal symptoms". Symptoms are scored 0 if the criterion is not met and 1 if the criterion is met to reach a total score. The scale also includes a separate criterion to calculate a diagnostic score for FA. If the YFAS symptoms score is ≥3 (at least 3 of the 7 YFAS criteria had a score of 1) and if the 8<sup>th</sup> criterion score is 1 (intake causes clinically significant damage), the participant is considered to have FA.

#### Depression, Anxiety, and the Stress Scale

In the study, DASS 21 (13) was used to determine the stress, depression, and anxiety status of the participants. It is the abbreviation for the DASS 21 developed by Lovibond and Lovibond (13). Its validity and reliability study was conducted using Scotch Pine in Turkey (18). It contains seven questions

that determine depression, anxiety, and stress levels. Its validity in adolescents has been shown in different studies (19,20). The test classifies the stress, depression, and anxiety as "normal", "mild", "moderate", "severe" or "extremely severe" based on the score.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data were evaluated with the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Statistics for Windows, version 23.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY: USA, 2015). Numerical data were expressed as mean and standard deviation (SD) or median with lower and upper values. Qualitative data were displayed as numbers and frequencies. Student's t-test was used to test the differences between two averages showing normal distribution. Mann-Whitney U test was used to test the differences between two median values showing non-normal distribution. The chi-square test was used to test the differences between categorical variables. Correlation coefficients were calculated using Spearman's, Pearson, or Eta squared tests. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

The study included 192 adolescents (age, mean $\pm$ SD = 15.3 $\pm$ 1.6 years, 12 to 19 years, 76% female). FA was detected in 8.9% of the participants. The prevalence of FA in female and male adolescents was 10.3% and 4.3%, respectively, p=0.217).

#### Anthropometric findings

BMI classification was available for 172 individuals. Of them, 5.2% were underweight, 12.2% were at risk of being underweight, 59.3% were normal-weight, 19.2% were overweight, and 4.1% were obese. No underweight individuals than FA, whereas 14.3% of obese, 9.5% of at-risk underweight, 8.8% of normal weight, and 3.0% of overweight individuals had FA. There was no significant relationship between FA and BMI classification (p=0.643) (Table 1).

Table 1. BMI classification according to food addiction status           (World Health Organization MGRS, 2007)									
	Food addiction								
	Yes (n=17)		No (n=175)		р				
	n	%	n	%					
BMI classification					0.643				
Underweight (<3.p <sup>a</sup> )	0	0	9	100.0					
Underweight risk (3-15.p)	2	9.5	19	90.5					
Normal (15-85.p)	9	8.8	93	91.2					
Overweight (85-97.p)	1	3.0	32	97.0					
Obesity (>97.p)	1	14.3	6	85.7					
<sup>a</sup> Percentile, BMI: Body mass index									

#### **YFAS** scores

The mean YFAS symptom score was  $2.7\pm1.8$  (0.0-7.0) in FA. The mean number of YFAS symptoms was  $5.1\pm1.5$  (3.0-7.0) in FA and  $2.5\pm1.7$  (0.0-7.0) without FA (p<0.001).

Table 2 shows the distribution of foods that individuals had problems with due to excessive eating and/or desire for excessive consumption across FA status. Chocolate/wafer, chips (52.9%), white bread (41.2%), deep-fried dough desserts, hamburgers/pita/lahmacun/doner, and frizzy drinks/coke (35.3%) were the most reported foods. In participants without FA, the most common foods were chocolate/wafer (32.6%), chips (26.3%), and white bread (25.7%).

Table 2.         Problematic food           status	ds	according	to	food ad	diction
	on				
	Ye	es (n=17)	No (n=	:175)	р
Foods that were declared problematic	n	%	n	%	
Ice-cream	5	29.4	12	6.9	0.002*
Chocolate/wafer	9	52.9	57	32.6	0.091
Apple	0	0.0	2	1.1	0.658
Deep-fried dough desserts	6	35.3	26	14.9	0.031*
Broccoli	1	5.9	6	3.4	0.606
Cookies	3	17.6	12	6.9	0.114
Cakes	4	23.5	25	14.3	0.310
Candies	4	23.5	20	11.4	0.150
White bread	7	41.2	45	25.7	0.171
Pastry	4	23.5	15	8.6	0.064
Lettuce	0	0.0	2	1.1	0.658
Spaghetti	4	23.5	27	15.4	0.386
Strawberry	1	5.9	1	0.6	0.039*
Rice	4	23.5	13	7.4	0.026*
Crispbreads	2	11.8	7	4.0	0.148
Chips	9	52.9	47	26.9	0.020*
Bagel	1	5.9	4	2.3	0.374
French fries	5	29.4	4	2.3	0.162
Carrot	0	0.0	1	0.6	0.755
Steak	2	11.8	6	3.4	0.101
Banana	0	0.0	3	1.7	0.586
Pastrami/Turkish style fermented sausage/ sausage/salami	1	5.9	5	2.9	0.494
Hamburgers/pita/lahmacun/ doner	6	35.3	23	13.1	0.001*
Pizza	4	23.5	14	8.0	0.036*
Frizzy drinks/coke	6	35.3	25	14.3	0.031*
None	2	11.8	51	29.1	0.126
*Categorical qualitative data were of	leter	mined by chi-	squa	re tests	

The ratio of having no problems with any food type was 11.8% and 29.1%, respectively, among individuals with and without FA. Participants with FA had more problems than those without FA regarding ice cream (p=0.002), deep-fried dough-based desserts (p=0.031), strawberries (p=0.039), rice (p=0.026), chips (p=0.020), hamburger/pita/lahmacun/doner (p=0.001), pizza (p=0.036), and frizzy drinks/coke (p=0.031).

#### Stress, depression and anxiety scores and FA

Table 3 shows the relationships between stress, depression, and anxiety status and the frequency of FA. Overall, 88.2% of the food-addicted participants had moderate, severe, or extremely severe levels of stress, depression, and anxiety. There was a statistically significant difference between moderate and higher levels of stress, depression, and anxiety in FA (p<0.001).

#### Carbohydrate and sugar consumption

Table 4 shows the relationships between BMI, stress, depression, anxiety, FA and frequency of carbohydrate and sugary food consumption. Increased stress was associated with increased consumption of salted snacks (p=0.041), dough desserts (e.g., baklava, tulumba, dessert with sirup) (p=0.017), coke and frizzy drinks with artificial sweeteners (p=0.027), packaged fruit juice (p=0.014), energy/sports drinks (p=0.001), and candies and jellies (p=0.009). An increase in depression

Table 3. addiction		epre	ssion	and	anxie	ty acc	cording	y to food
		Foc	d add	ictio	า	Tota		
		Yes	;	No	No		•	р
		n	%	n	%	n	%	P
Stress								<0.001*
Ν	lormal	2	11.8	96	54.9	98	51.0	
N	/lild	0		22	12.6	22	11.5	
N	loderate	5	29.4	30	17.1	35	18.2	
S	Severe	5	29.4	18	10.3	23	12.0	
	xtremely evere	5	29.4	9	5.1	14	7.3	
Depressi	on							<0.001*
Ν	lormal	1	5.9	73	41.7	74	38.5	
N	/lild	1	5.9	21	12.0	22	11.5	
N	loderate	3	17.6	37	21.1	40	20.8	-
S	Severe	2	11.8	16	9.1	18	9.4	
	xtremely evere	10	58.8	28	16.0	38	19.8	
Anxiety								<0.001*
Ν	Iormal	1	5.9	75	42.9	76	39.6	
N	/lild	1	5.9	20	11.4	21	10.9	
N	loderate	5	29.4	40	22.9	45	23.4	
S	Severe	1	5.9	17	9.7	18	9.4	
	xtremely evere	9	52.9	23	13.1	32	16.7	
*Categorical qualitative data were determined by chi-square tests								

was associated with increased consumption of cake derivatives (p=0.005), fruit desserts (e.g., quince dessert) (p=0.028), packaged fruit juice (p=0.042), energy/sports drinks (p=0.041), coffee with sugar and flavor (p=0.014), and candies and jellies (p=0.008). An increase in anxiety was associated with increased consumption of pastries such as borek (filo based salty), bagels, acma, pogaca (e.g., dough-based salty) (p=0.043), salted snacks (e.g., crackers) (p=0.016), cookies/sweet biscuits (p=0.038), cake derivatives (p=0.018), milk desserts (e.g., rice pudding, custard) (p=0.001), packaged fruit juice (p=0.007), coffee with sugar and flavor (p=0.014), candies and jellies (p=0.004), and fruits (p=0.001).

An increase in YFAS score was associated with an increase in the consumption of pastries such as borek (filo-based salty), bagels, acma, pogaca (e.g., dough-based salty) (p=0.009), salted snacks (p=0.002), cake derivatives (p=0.023), fruit desserts (e.g., quince dessert) (p=0.022), coke and frizzy drinks with artificial sweeteners (p=0.016), packaged fruit juices (p=0.025), fresh fruit juices (p=0.022), and fruits (p=0.026).

An increase in BMI was associated with increased consumption of rice/pasta/noodles/bulgur (p=0.038), salted snacks (p=0.005), coke and frizzy drinks with sugar (e.g., soda with fruit flavor, fruit juice, iced tea) (p=0.009), and coke and frizzy drinks with artificial sweeteners (p=0.025).

## Correlations between Age, BMI, YFAS score, stress, depression, and anxiety scores

As shown in Table 5, there was a weak but significant positive correlation between age and BMI (r=0.172, p=0.024). No significant relationship was observed between BMI and YFAS score (r=0.094, p=0.222), stress (r=-0.029, p=0.710), depression (r=0.029, p=0.705), or anxiety score (r=-0.018, p=0.817). A strong positive correlation was observed between the YFAS score and stress (r=0.472, p<0.001), depression (r=0.458, p<0.001), and anxiety scores (r=0.528, p<0.001). Besides, stress, depression, and anxiety scores showed a positive and strong relationship with each other (p<0.001).

#### Discussion

In this study, the prevalence of FA in adolescents was 8.9%. In several previous studies, the prevalence of FA in adolescents ranged between 2.6% and 38.0% (11,16,17,21-25). In the current study, the prevalence of FA was 10.3% in female adolescents and 4.3% in male adolescents. We observed no significant difference in FA prevalence between females and males. Several past studies reported no difference in the prevalence of FA by sex in adolescents, while others reported a higher frequency in females (16,21-26).

We observed no relationship between BMI classification and FA status. Nevertheless, obese individuals showed the highest rate of FA. An online study by Taş Torun et al. (27) on

Table 4. Carbohydrate and sweetened food consumption frequency according to stress, depression, anxiety, YFAS score and BMI class

Class											
	Stress			Depression		Anxiety		YFAS score		BMI class	
Foods and drinks	Chi- square	р	Chi- square	р	Chi- square	р	Chi- square	р	Chi- square	р	
White bread and types	22.107	0.776	30.307	0.349	33.203	0.228	13.328	0.065	14.298	0.940	
Bran bread and types of bran bread	28.052	0.258	23.345	0.499	15.213	0.914	1.484	0.961	33.905	0.086	
Rice, pasta, noodles, and bulgur	25.046	0.625	20.077	0.862	32.183	0.267	14.057	0.050	37.586	<b>0.038</b> *	
Pastries such as borek (filo-based salty), bagels, acma, and pogaca (dough-based salty)	31.293	0.304	25.031	0.626	42.001	0.043 <sup>∗</sup>	18.708	0.009*	18.959	0.899	
Breakfast cereals (cornflakes, etc.)	31.580	0.292	30.743	0.329	26.475	0.547	2.637	0.916	27.211	0.507	
Toast, sandwich	30.097	0.359	20.985	0.826	29.947	0.366	4.106	0.768	18.267	0.919	
Pizza, lahmacun, pita, and hamburger	32.838	0.242	32.367	0.260	32.887	0.240	8.841	0.264	30.926	0.320	
Salted snacks (crackers, etc.)	42.222	<b>0.041</b> <sup>*</sup>	39.577	0.072	46.314	<b>0.016</b> <sup>*</sup>	22.538	<b>0.002</b> *	50.986	0.005*	
Cookies, sweet biscuits	38.953	0.082	35.520	0.155	42.631	<b>0.038</b> *	10.486	0.163	25.595	0.595	
Cake derivatives	31.112	0.312	51.096	0.005*	45.780	<b>0.018</b> <sup>*</sup>	16.230	<b>0.023</b> <sup>*</sup>	24.859	0.635	
Dough desserts (e.g., baklava, tulumba, dessert with sirup)	46.201	<b>0.017</b> *	33.844	0.206	34.829	0.175	11.514	0.118	32.799	0.243	
Milk desserts (rice pudding, and custard)	26.075	0.569	30.588	0.336	56.342	0.001 <sup>*</sup>	12.456	0.087	27.362	0.499	
Fruit desserts (quince dessert, etc.)	39.395	0.075	43.893	<b>0.028</b> *	34.431	0.187	16.340	<b>0.022</b> *	35.958	0.144	
Ice-cream milkshake	39.314	0.076	41.245	0.051	36.333	0.134	12.646	0.081	30.552	0.337	
Coke and frizzy drinks with sugar (soda with fruit flavor, fruit juice, and iced tea)	38.106	0.096	34.990	0.170	34.361	0.189	10.165	0.179	48.609	0.009*	
Coke and frizzy drinks with artificial sweeteners	44.200	0.027*	37.005	0.119	27.561	0.488	17.297	0.016 <sup>*</sup>	44.413	0.025*	
Packaged fruit juice	46.995	<b>0.014</b> <sup>*</sup>	42.169	<b>0.042</b> *	49.661	<b>0.007</b> *	16.028	<b>0.025</b> *	30.097	0.359	
Fresh fruit juice	31.435	0.298	39.090	0.079	31.569	0.292	16.367	<b>0.022</b> <sup>*</sup>	26.962	0.520	
Energy/sports drinks	51.733	<b>0.001</b> <sup>*</sup>	37.311	<b>0.041</b> <sup>*</sup>	28.903	0.224	5.110	0.530	31.816	0.132	
Coffee with sugar and flavor	37.982	0.099	46.953	0.014*	46.930	<b>0.014</b> <sup>*</sup>	4.279	0.747	25.383	0.607	
Candies and jellies	48.703	0.009*	49.279	<b>0.008</b> *	52.052	0.004*	8.538	0.288	35.969	0.143	
Chocolate/wafers	29.246	0.400	23.963	0.683	31.016	0.316	2.636	0.917	36.618	0.128	
Honey, marmalade, molasse, and hazelnut butter	18.929	0.900	30.743	0.329	22.856	0.740	13.254	0.066	20.417	0.849	
Fruits	36.360	0.134	37.589	0.106	57.841	0.001*	15.955	<b>0.026</b> *	20.466	0.847	
YFAS: Yale Food Addiction Scale, BMI: Body mas	YFAS: Yale Food Addiction Scale, BMI: Body mass index										

Table 5. The correlation of stress, depression and anxiety scores with age, BMI and YFAS scores of participants									
	BMI (kg/m²)	YFAS score	Stress scores	Depression score	Anxiety score				
A (	0.172 <sup>*</sup>	-0.003	-0.065	-0.134	-0.034				
Age (years)	0.024	0.970	0.368	0.063	0.639				
BMI (kg/m²)		0.094	-0.029	0.029	-0.018				
		0.222	0.710	0.705	0.817				
N/54.0			0.472**	0.458**	0.528**				
YFAS score			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
Ctropp poprop				0.708**	0.809**				
Stress scores				<0.001	<0.001				
					0.682**				
Depression score					<0.001				
*p<0.05. **p<0.01									

SD: Standard deviation, IQR: Interquartile range, YFAS: Yale Food Addiction Scale, BMI: Body mass index

126 adolescents between the ages of 11 and 18 years showed 47.9% FA in individuals with increased BMI, much higher than 5.1% in the control group. In the present study, the prevalence of FA was 14.3% in individuals with BMI >95th percentile, while it was 8.3% in individuals with BMI <85th percentile. A metaanalysis reported a 19% average prevalence of FA in studies conducted on overweight or obese children and adolescents, and a 12% average prevalence in studies conducted on the general population (25). In the same study, there was no significant relationship between FA in adolescents and BMI z-scores (relative weight adjusted for age and sex) (25). The higher prevalence of FA in overweight and obese individuals suggests that FA is involved in the development of adolescent obesity. Nevertheless, the results may not be statistically significant due to the low number of individuals with FA and the lack of homogeneity of the groups formed according to the BMI classification. On the other hand, anthropometric measurements were performed with nonstandardized scales by the parents. This is a limitation of the study. According to the Turkish Health Survey in 2019, the rate of obesity in women aged 15 and over was 24.8%, and the rate of obesity risk was 30.4%. In males, the rate of obesity is 17.3%, and the rate of those at risk of obesity is 39.7% (28). Obesity rates were lower in adolescents than in adults in the current study. The weight reached and the nutritional habits acquired in adolescence generally continue into adulthood. It is important to evaluate and improve the anthropometric measurements of the adolescent group.

The mean YFAS symptom score we calculated in the current study (2.7±1.8) is higher than several previous studies conducted in the general adolescent population (17,21,23). On the other hand, studies on overweight and obese individuals have reported comparable YFAS symptom scores with our findings (11,22,29-31). Vastly, the YFAS symptom score has been reported between 1.0 and 2.0 in the general population and between 2.1 and 2.9 in overweight and obese adolescents. Higher YFAS scores in the current study than in previous studies can be explained by the gender imbalance in our sample. More females participated in the current study and more females received a FA diagnosis. Furthermore, normal-weight adolescents in this study had higher YFAS scores. Lastly, the study was conducted during the pandemic, which might have adversely influenced eating habits through lookdown measures and increased distress.

The YFAS symptom score and FA status are expected to correlate. In our sample, the mean number of YFAS symptoms was  $5.1\pm1.5$  (3.0-7.0) in those with FA and  $2.5\pm1.7$  (0.0-7.0) in those without (p<0.001), which was very close to a previous study (16).

Individuals with FA may develop an addiction to different foods that they have problems with because of excessive eating and/or desire for excessive consumption. In this study, foodaddicted individuals reported that they had more problems with the consumption of *fast food* products than individuals without FA. These results were consistent with Keser et al. (32). We also observed that foods with higher sugar and fat content were more closely associated with FA, similar to a study by Buyuktuncer et al. (15) in adults, which reported that individuals with FA had more problems with French fries, cake derivatives, donuts, white bread, and foods with high fat and sugar contents, such as chips and chocolate.

In the current work, FA was associated with stress, depression, and anxiety. Participants with normal levels of stress, depression and anxiety constituted 51.0%, 38.5%, and 39.6% of the total participants, respectively. Other participants showed mild to severe levels of stress, depression, and anxiety. The relationship between addiction and mental problems is bidirectional. In this study, 88.2% of participants with FA had moderate, advanced, or very advanced levels of stress, depression, and anxiety. Previous studies have also reported relationships between stress, depression, and anxiety and FA assessed by DASS-21 or other methods (23,29-31,33). A review of 27 studies has concluded that many mental health problems and psychosocial disorders, including depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, eating disorders, low quality of life, and self-esteem, are linked to FA (33).

Concerning the food types, we observed that the consumption of some high-carbohydrate and sugary foods was particularly associated with stress, depression, and anxiety scores. Zhang et al. (34) reported that the consumption of drinks that contain more than 25 grams/day of sugar or more than 6 times a week was associated with increased anxiety and depression in adolescents. Similarly, Liu et al. (35) reported a similar association between excessive consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and increased depression. A relationship between high sugarcontaining beverage consumption and mental health issues was also shown in adolescents (36). Our findings in this regard are in agreement with the literature.

The YFAS symptom score was not affected by BMI (p=0.222), it showed a strong positive relationship with stress, depression, and anxiety scores (p<0.001). At the same time, as expected, stress, depression, and anxiety scores showed a positive and strong relationship with one another (p<0.001). Rose et al. (29) also did not report a significant relationship between the BMI values of the participants and the number of YFAS symptoms and mental health problems. Lin et al. (30) reported a positive correlation between BMI z-score and psychological distress, including FA and stress, depression, and anxiety. A wide variety of methodological studies have been reported in the literature. Therefore, detailed examinations are required in studies with more comprehensive and gender-distributed sampling, considering that mental health problems such as stress, depression, and anxiety may trigger overeating and lead to FA acquisition.

#### **Study Limitations**

The study has some limitations. We experienced difficulties in data collection because we could not interview the participants face-to-face due to the pandemic measures. On the other hand, the online questionnaire was completed by the respondent and parents or quardians to ensure the quality of data as much as possible. Second, the influences of COVID-19 on stress, anxiety, depression symptoms, and eating habits (37) might have caused an overdiagnosis of FA. Third, most participants were female, causing less well evaluation of the male sex. Fourth, anthropometric data were self-reported, leaving concerns of potential errors. Fifth, the overall number of FAs remained low, making it difficult to derive well-grounded conclusions. Some peculiar values that were thought to result from erroneous measurements were excluded from the evaluation. Finally, we were not able to investigate some other ingredients like fats that might also be related to FA.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, this study suggests that FA and associated symptoms seen toward foods with higher sugar content increase because of stress, depression, and anxiety. For this reason, it is important to evaluate mental health problems to prevent nutrition-related problems in the adolescent period.

This study has also shown that foods high in sugar can cause addiction, although its cross-sectional design precludes causal inferences. Emotional states such as stress, depression, and anxiety can contribute to the development of FA. Contrary to expectations, FA, stress, depression and anxiety were not associated with BMI values. However, a more detailed evaluation of FA and mood changes may provide a new perspective on preventing and treating obesity in adolescents.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the subjects who participated in this study.

#### Ethics

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Hacettepe University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (decision no: 2021/02-20, date: 20.06.2021).

**Informed Consent:** All participants gave written informed consent. Since voluntariness was taken as a basis for participation, all participants signed the volunteer consent form.

Peer review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.T., B.A.E., N.E., Concept: M.T., B.A.E., N.E., Design: M.T., B.A.E., N.E., Data Collection or Processing: M.T., N.E., Analysis or **Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### References

- Onaolapo AY, Onaolapo OJ, Olowe OA. An overview of addiction to sugar. Preuss HG, Bagchi D, editors. Dietary Sugar, Salt and Fat in Human Health. Academic Press; 2020.
- Lee PC, Dixon JB. Food for Thought: Reward Mechanisms and Hedonic Overeating in Obesity. Curr Obes Rep. 2017;6:353-361.
- Freeman CR, Zehra A, Ramirez V, Wiers CE, Volkow ND, Wang GJ. Impact of sugar on the body, brain, and behavior. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2018;23:2255-2266.
- Falbe J, Thompson HR, Patel A, Madsen KA. Potentially addictive properties of sugar-sweetened beverages among adolescents. Appetite. 2019;133:130-137.
- Jastreboff AM, Sinha R, Arora J, et al. Altered Brain Response to Drinking Glucose and Fructose in Obese Adolescents. Diabetes. 2016;65:1929-1939.
- 6. Hildebrandt T, Greif R. Stress and addiction. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013;38:1923-1927.
- Maripuu M, Wikgren M, Karling P, Adolfsson R, Norrback KF. Relative hypocortisolism is associated with obesity and the metabolic syndrome in recurrent affective disorders. J Affect Disord. 2016;204:187-196.
- Berg Schmidt J, Johanneson Bertolt C, Sjödin A, et al. Does stress affect food preferences? - a randomized controlled trial investigating the effect of examination stress on measures of food preferences and obesogenic behavior. Stress. 2018;21:556-563.
- Tomiyama AJ, Dallman MF, Epel ES. Comfort food is comforting to those most stressed: evidence of the chronic stress response network in high stress women. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2011;36:1513-1519.
- Wei NL, Quan ZF, Zhao T, et al. Chronic stress increases susceptibility to food addiction by increasing the levels of DR2 and MOR in the nucleus accumbens. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2019;15:1211-1229.
- Tompkins CL, Laurent J, Brock DW. Food Addiction: A Barrier for Effective Weight Management for Obese Adolescents. Child Obes. 2017;13:462-469.
- Gearhardt AN, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. Preliminary validation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale. Appetite. 2009;52:430-436.
- Lovibond SH, Lovibond PF. Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (2nd ed.). Sydney: Psychology Foundation of Australia; 1995.
- 14. Tüfekçi-Alphan E, Baş M, Baysal A, et al. Nutrition therapy in disease. Ankara: Hatiboğlu Publishing; 2013.
- 15. Buyuktuncer Z, Akyol A, Ayaz A, et al. Turkish version of the Yale Food Addiction Scale: preliminary results of factorial

structure, reliability, and construct validity. J Health Popul Nutr. 2019;38:42.

- Meule A, Hermann T, Kübler A. Food addiction in overweight and obese adolescents seeking weight-loss treatment. Eur Eat Disord Rev. 2015;23:193-198.
- Magyar ÉE, Tényi D, Gearhardt A, et al. Adaptation and validation of the Hungarian version of the Yale Food Addiction Scale for Children. J Behav Addict. 2018;7:181-188.
- Sarıcam H. The psychometric properties of Turkish version of Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21) in health control and clinical samples. JCBPR. 2018;7:19-30.
- Le MTH, Tran TD, Holton S, Nguyen HT, Wolfe R, Fisher J. Reliability, convergent validity and factor structure of the DASS-21 in a sample of Vietnamese adolescents. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0180557.
- Evans L, Haeberlein K, Chang A, Handal P. Convergent Validity and Preliminary Cut-Off Scores for the Anxiety and Depression Subscales of the DASS-21 in US Adolescents. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev. 2021;52:579-585.
- Mies GW, Treur JL, Larsen JK, Halberstadt J, Pasman JA, Vink JM. The prevalence of food addiction in a large sample of adolescents and its association with addictive substances. Appetite. 2017;118:97-105.
- Borisenkov MF, Tserne TA, Bakutova LA. Food addiction in Russian adolescents: Associations with age, sex, weight, and depression. Eur Eat Disord Rev. 2018;26:671-676.
- Horsager C, Færk E, Gearhardt AN, Østergaard SD, Lauritsen MB. Validation of the dimensional Yale Food Addiction Scale for Children 2.0 and estimation of the weighted food addiction score in a sample of adolescents from the general population. Eat Weight Disord. 2021;26:2563-2576.
- Yekaninejad MS, Badrooj N, Vosoughi F, Lin CY, Potenza MN, Pakpour AH. Prevalence of food addiction in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2021;22:e13183.
- Horsager C, Færk E, Gearhardt AN, Lauritsen MB, Østergaard SD. Food addiction comorbid to mental disorders in adolescents: a nationwide survey and register-based study. Eat Weight Disord. 2022;27:945-959.
- Pursey KM, Stanwell P, Gearhardt AN, Collins CE, Burrows TL. The prevalence of food addiction as assessed by the Yale Food Addiction Scale: a systematic review. Nutrients. 2014;6:4552-4590.

- Taş Torun Y, İçen S, Gül H, Döğer E. A cross-sectional study on the correlates of food addiction symptoms in adolescents seeking treatment for obesity: eating attitudes and gender differences. J Addict Dis. 2022;40:326-335.
- Turkish Statistical Institute (TÜİK). Turkey Health Survey, 2019. Number: 33661 [Internet]. [cited 2020 June 4]. Available from: https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Turkiye-Saglik-Arastirmasi-2019-33661.
- 29. Rose MH, Nadler EP, Mackey ER. Impulse Control in Negative Mood States, Emotional Eating, and Food Addiction are Associated with Lower Quality of Life in Adolescents with Severe Obesity. J Pediatr Psychol. 2018;43:443-451.
- Lin CY, Cheung P, Imani V, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The Mediating Effects of Eating Disorder, Food Addiction, and Insomnia in the Association between Psychological Distress and Being Overweight among Iranian Adolescents. Nutrients. 2020;12:1371.
- Ahorsu DK, Lin CY, Imani V, et al. A prospective study on the link between weight-related self-stigma and binge eating: Role of food addiction and psychological distress. Int J Eat Disord. 2020;53:442-450.
- Keser A, Yüksel A, Yeşiltepe-Mutlu G, Bayhan A, Özsu E, Hatun Ş. A new insight into food addiction in childhood obesity. Turk J Pediatr. 2015;57:219-224.
- Skinner J, Jebeile H, Burrows T. Food addiction and mental health in adolescents: a systematic review. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2021;5:751-766.
- Zhang X, Huang X, Xiao Y, et al. Daily intake of soft drinks is associated with symptoms of anxiety and depression in Chinese adolescents. Public Health Nutr. 2019;22:2553-2560.
- Liu J, Chen T, Chen M, et al. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Depressive and Social Anxiety Symptoms Among Children and Adolescents Aged 7-17 Years, Stratified by Body Composition. Front Nutr. 2022;9:888671.
- Lien L, Lien N, Heyerdahl S, Thoresen M, Bjertness E. Consumption of soft drinks and hyperactivity, mental distress, and conduct problems among adolescents in Oslo, Norway. Am J Public Health. 2006;96:1815-1820.
- 37. Di Renzo L, Gualtieri P, Cinelli G, et al. Psychological Aspects and Eating Habits during COVID-19 Home Confinement: Results of EHLC-COVID-19 Italian Online Survey. Nutrients. 2020;12:2152.

**DOI:** 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2023.81994 Gulhane Med J 2023;65:123-9



## Knowledge and practice of dental healthcare providers about disinfection of light curing units

O Vinay N. Mavani<sup>1</sup>, 
 O Shambhavi Gogia<sup>2</sup>, 
 O Manuel S. Thomas<sup>3</sup>, 
 Ethel Suman<sup>4</sup>, 
 O Srikant Natarajan<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Toronto, Faculty of Dentistry, Ontario, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Private Practitioner, New Delhi, India

<sup>3</sup>Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics, Manipal College of Dental Sciences, Mangalore, Karnataka, India

<sup>4</sup>Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Department of Microbiology, Kasturba Medical College, Mangalore, Karnataka, India

<sup>5</sup>Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Department of Oral Pathology, Manipal College of Dental Sciences, Mangalore, Karnataka, India

Date submitted: 02.08.2022

Date accepted: 17.01.2023 Online publication date: 15.09.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Manuel S. Thomas, M.D.S., Assoc. Prof., Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics, Manipal College of Dental Sciences, Mangalore, Karnataka, India +00919980981150 manuel.st@manipal.edu

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3042-0669

**Keywords:** Dentistry, disinfection, light curing unit, semi-critical items

#### Introduction

The novel Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) outbreak, which started in 2019, has caused a public health emergency at a global level. The transmission of the 2019 Severe acute respiratory syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) mainly occurs through inhalation, ingestion, or mucosal contact with infected respiratory droplets, either through direct or indirect contact. The origin of droplets can be nasopharyngeal or oropharyngeal, frequently associated with saliva (1,2). Salivary secretion is a potential source for the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 because live viruses have been detected in the saliva specimens of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection (3). The virus is thought to enter the saliva via the exchange of liquid droplets between the lower and upper respiratory tract, via crevicular fluid to blood, or through major and minor salivary glands (2).



©Copyright 2023 by author. Gülhane Medical Journal is owned by the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye and published by Galenos Publishing House. Licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.

#### ABSTRACT

**Aims:** A light curing unit (LCU) is a heat-intolerant instrument. This study aimed to assess the knowledge and practice of dental healthcare providers about the disinfection of LCUs.

**Methods:** This cross-sectional study included 350 consented dental clinicians and clinical dental students from Dakshina Kannada district of Karnataka, India, for the questionnaire part of the study. Bacterial load and debris on the LCU tips were studied in 27 LCUs from different clinics and we studied the relationship between debris and bacterial load.

**Results:** The survey included 334 healthcare providers. Only 51.8% agreed that LCUs should be disinfected after every patient. A significant proportion of the participants (62.3%) had no information about the type of disinfectant used in the clinic. Microorganism cultures were positive in approximately 80% of the 27 LCUs evaluated. Most of the LCU tips (67%) had visible debris. The numbers of colony-forming units (CFU)/cm<sup>2</sup> on blood agar and mitis salivarius agar were 57.94±92.28 and 28.56±40.63, respectively. Culture positivity was significantly lower on LCU with visibly clean tips (p<0.001) (0.33±7.83 CFUs/cm<sup>2</sup> on blood agar and 0.78±1.39 CFUs/cm<sup>2</sup> on mitis salivarius agar).

**Conclusions:** This study showed insufficient knowledge and practice in reprocessing heatsensitive semi-critical items among dental healthcare workers. Dental practice perpetually carries the risk of coronavirus transmission due to the following reasons; (i) frequent exposure to saliva and blood; (ii) very close proximity between patient and dental personnel during clinical procedures; and (iii) many dental procedures produce droplets and aerosols (2). Other than COVID-19, well-known diseases that can be potentially transmitted in a dental care facility are various viral infections (herpes, hepatitis, human immunodeficiency virus) and bacterial infections (tuberculosis, pseudomonas infections) (4). The prevention of cross-infection in the dental clinic is mandatory for patient care in dentistry. Hence, dentists and working staff should be aware of these infections, the route of transmission, and infection control protocols to be followed (5).

The instruments and devices used in dentistry can be categorized as critical (instruments that penetrate the soft tissue), semi-critical (non-sharp items that enter the oral cavity), or noncritical (items that have contact with intact skin) based on the risk of transmitting infections during their use and the required level of sterilization or disinfection (6). Semi-critical items contact with the mucous membrane but do not penetrate bone or soft tissues like mouth mirrors, impression trays, dental handpieces, and airwater syringe tips. These items are frequently contaminated by blood. Thus, they should be disposable or, if reused, sterilized. If sterilization is not feasible (e.g., heat-sensitive instruments), the use of a high-level disinfectant (HLD) is recommended (6).

A light curing unit (LCU) is used in dental practice to cure resin-based composites (7). It is a semi-critical item as it is introduced into the mouth and can get contaminated with saliva (8). Several methods of controlling infections on the tips of LCUs are available, including disinfectant wipes, autoclavable guides, pre-sterilized single-use plastic sheaths, and transparent disposable barriers to cover the LCU tip (9). Heat-sensitive LCU tips must be cold sterilized because they are semi-critical items and a potential source of nosocomial infections.

The COVID-19 pandemic has reminded dentists and other healthcare professionals to protect against the spread of infectious diseases diligently (2). Our ambition in this study was to increase awareness of the disinfection process of commonly used equipment in dental practice since proper disinfection techniques can reduce nosocomial infections. This study aimed to assess the knowledge and practice of dental healthcare providers about the disinfection of LCUs. Microbial loads on the LCU tips were also sought.

#### Methods

#### Study design and population

We conducted this cross-sectional study in 2015 in two parts. The first part consisted of a survey using a self-administered questionnaire. The second part consisted of culture studies on LCU tips. Consented dental students with clinical exposure and dental clinicians from dentistry teaching hospitals and other dental clinics in Dakshina Kannada district of Karnataka, India, were included in the survey via convenience sampling. Finally, 350 participants working with an LCU were enrolled, including senior dental undergraduates, dental postgraduates, dental faculty, and private dental practitioners. Incomplete questionnaires were excluded from the analysis.

Institutional Ethical Committee approved the study protocol (protocol no: MCODS/I98/2013, date: 07.12.2013; and amended the protocol on 09.07.2020).

#### Questionnaire

A questionnaire was designed to evaluate the knowledge and practice of the participants about the disinfection of LCUs. The questionnaire consisted of 7 close-ended questions related to infection control while using an LCU (Figure 1). Incomplete questionnaires were excluded from the analyses.

#### Isolation of bacteria

We selected 27 LCUs from different clinics. Table 1 shows the type of LCUs. Swab cultures were prepared using mitis salivarius agar (HiMedia Ltd., India) and blood agar plates (HiMedia Ltd., India). Mitis salivarius agar is a selective medium for viridans streptococcci, including *Streptococcus mutans, Streptococcus salivarius, Streptococcus mitis,* and *Streptococcus sanguis* from mixed flora. The plates were incubated with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C for 48 h. Blood agar is an enriched medium that facilitates the growth of all fastidious organisms. It is ideal to use this medium for isolating and counting commensal flora of the oral cavity like *Klebsiella* spp., *Enterococcus* spp., *Staphylococcus* spp., and *Candida* spp. (10). The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 48 h. The bacterial count was assessed using a colony counter and expressed in colony-forming units per square centimeter (CFU/ cm<sup>2</sup>).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics for Windows, version 20.0 (IBM. Corp., Armonk, NY, 2011) was used for the data analysis. The distribution normality for continuous variables was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the values were not normally distributed, Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the variables. The significance threshold was set at 0.05.

#### Results

The questionnaire part of the study included 334 responses, including 205 undergraduate dental students, 72 dental postgraduates, and 57 dentists (Figure 1). Of the participants, 51.8% thought their LCU needed disinfection after every patient. Other responses were disinfection occasionally (18.3%), at the beginning of the day (15.5%), at the end of the day (8.1%), and never (6.3%).

Only 49.5% of the participants thought using a protective cover for the LCU was essential. Other responses were occasional covering (19.5%) or never (31%). In most clinics, the auxiliary staff (dental assistant/nurse, or housekeeping staff) were responsible for cleaning of LCU (81.1%). On the other hand, there were no specific dental health care practitioners (DHCPs) assigned to this duty in some sites. Of the participants, 79% thought they needed gloves while disinfecting the LCU.

The most commonly used disinfectant was alcohol-based (50%). A significant part of the participants (38.3%) were not aware of the disinfectant composition. Others used hydrogen peroxide, glutaraldehyde, or water-based disinfectants. Most participants (62.3%) had no information about the type of disinfectant used in their clinic. Only 27.3% selected the response that the disinfectant should have tuberculocidal properties. Less than a third of the participants (27.8%) thought there was no specific time for disinfection.



Figure 1. Frequency distribution of participants' knowledge and practice regarding the disinfection of the LCU LCU: Light curing unit

Table 1. Characteristics of the dental LCUs assessed		
tem	Observation	Number (%)
Euro of operatory	Hospital attached dental clinic	22 (81.5)
Type of operatory	Private dental clinic	5 (18.5)
Tip debris status	Visible debris present	18 (66.7)
	Visible debris absent	9 (33.3)
	No growth	5 (18.5)
	1-10 CFU/cm <sup>2</sup>	7 (25.9)
Bacterial count on blood agar (no. of CFUs/cm <sup>2</sup> )	10-100 CFU/cm <sup>2</sup>	11 (40.7)
	>100 CFU/cm <sup>2</sup>	4 (14.8)
	No growth	6 (22.2)
$P_{\rm ext}$	1-10 CFU/cm <sup>2</sup>	12 (44.5)
Bacterial count on mitis salivarius agar (no. of CFUs/cm <sup>2</sup> )	10-100 CFU/cm <sup>2</sup>	8 (29.6)
	>100 CFU/cm <sup>2</sup>	1 (3.7)
FU: Colony forming unit, LCUs: Light curing units		

Of the 27 LCUs visible debris was identified by 67%. Culture studies showed that around 80% of the LCU tips were contaminated (Table 1). Additionally, the bacterial counts in both the agar mediums were significantly higher on the LCU tips with visible debris (p<0.001) (Table 2). The most common microorganisms were *Staphylococcus* spp., members of viridans *Streptococci* like *Streptococcus mutans, Candida* spp., and a few coliforms.

#### Discussion

This study evaluated attitudes, knowledge, and practices of dental healthcare workers toward infection control practices about reprocessing semi-critical items. LCU, the heat-sensitive reusable semi-critical item in this study is used in everyday dental practice in the polymerization of photo-initiated dental materials (11). Since these devices are used intra-orally and can be contaminated with saliva and blood, they pose a risk of crossinfection (12,13). In the current scenario of the global pandemic, the need for clearer guidelines on infection control procedures in dental practice should be emphasized.

In our study, only half of the participants thought that there was a need to sterilize or disinfect the LCU after every patient. which may be related to why more than 80% of the LCUs tested showed microbial contamination. Janowalla et al. (13) detected bacterial contamination on approximately 40% of the LCUs before they were used, which was attributed by the authors to non-compliance with the recommended protocol. Such a major lapse in infection control practices (ICPs) needs to be addressed. In this regard, adequate education and training of DHCPs should be a priority (14,15). In our study, the auxiliary dental staff (dental assistant/nurse or housekeeping staff) was mainly responsible for disinfecting the LCU. Nevertheless, there was no specifically assigned DHCP at several sites, which could cause confusion among the working staff and lead to deficiencies in ICPs. Therefore, it is prudent that dentists and the auxiliary staff undergo compulsory task-specific education and training at regular intervals (14).

Based on the tolerance of the microorganisms to chemical disinfectants, it can resistance increases from the enveloped viruses (e.g., coronavirus) to vegetative bacteria (e.g., *Staphylococcus aureus*) fungi (e.g., *Candida*), non-enveloped-

viruses (e.g., adenovirus, rhinovirus), mycobacteria (e.g., Mycobacteria tuberculosis) and highly resistant spores (e.g., Clostridium difficile). Concerning such a hierarchy of tolerance, if a disinfectant can inactivate resistant microorganisms such as mycobacteria, it should be able to inactivate the least resistant COVID-19 virus (16). The chemical disinfectants that inhibit or destroy the microorganisms include liquid chemical sterilants (those which destroy all microorganisms including bacterial spores), HLD (those which may destroy all microorganisms but not necessarily high numbers of bacterial spores: used for shorter immersion time), intermediate level disinfectant or hospital disinfectant with a tuberculocidal claim (those which may destroy vegetative bacteria, most fungi, and most viruses; inactivates Mycobacterium tuberculosis var bovis, but not necessarily capable of killing bacterial spores) and low-level disinfectant also referred to as hospital disinfectant without a tuberculocidal claim (those that destroy most vegetative bacteria, some fungi, and some viruses, but does not inactivate Mycobacterium tuberculosis var bovis) (6.17). Therefore, the presence of vegetative bacteria in most LCUs tested in this study is of major concern.

As per Centers for Disease Control and Prevention guidelines, if a reusable semi-critical device or item cannot be autoclaved, it should be processed at least with HLD (14). Most sporicidal HLDs, such as glutaraldehyde and peracetic acid, are highly toxic and can pose a risk to a DHCP (18). Additionally, soaking these high-tech devices in these aggressive chemicals can sometimes damage the equipment. Therefore, the best practice for reprocessing heat-intolerant expensive semi-critical items would be to use an appropriate disposable plastic sheath or barrier to avoid contamination. This must be supplemented with an intermediate-level disinfectant with tuberculocidal properties (14). In our study, less than half of the participants thought it was essential to cover the LCU with a protective barrier. Such a low frequency of using a clear plastic sheath was in accordance with the findings of Mitton and Wilson (11).

Interestingly, we showed that LCU tips with visible debris had a significantly high microbial load, suggesting that the accumulated debris interfered with the disinfection process. Hence, using an effective barrier on the tip could assist in reducing the debris on the LCU, thereby reducing the bacterial

Table 2. Comparison between soiled LCU tips and microbial colony counts									
Type of agar culture plate used	Debris on the LCU	No. of LCU	No. of colony	z	р				
	tip		Mean±SD	Median (IQR)	Range				
Bacterial count on blood agar	Absent	9	3.33±7.83	0 (0.2)	0-24	3.561	<0.001		
	Present	18	57.94±92.28	29 (12.52)	1-386	-3.301	<0.001		
Bacterial count on mitis salivarius	Absent	9	0.78±1.39	0 (0.1)	0-4	4.141	<0.001		
agar	Present	18	28.56±40.63	±40.63 12.5 (9.33) 3-174		-4.141	<b>\0.001</b>		
LCU: Light curing unit, SD: Standard deviation, IQR: Interquartile range									
count. Other than the tip of the device, microorganisms were frequently identified on the body of the equipment, including the on/off buttons, in agreement with the study by Janowalla et al. (13). Therefore, these areas must be wiped, disinfected, and covered with cling film before use.

According to the current survey, the use of alcohol-based disinfectants was common. However, many participants were not aware of the disinfectant compositions. More so, they were unaware of the nature of the disinfectant and the time required for adequate disinfection. The selection of disinfectants while reprocessing heat-sensitive semi-critical items should comply with the manufacturer's instruction manual. Any chemical used should be at least tuberculocidal, compatible with the item, and should not pose undue occupational exposure risks (15), which should include any of the commercial products registered under the Environmental Protection Agency having tuberculocidal action (19). The contact time and dilution should be consistent with the chemical manufacturer's instructions. Alcohol (ethanol/ isopropyl) in a concentration of ≥70% or even dental bleach (a minimum of 5000 ppm available chlorine i.e., 0.5% sodium hypochlorite) can also be considered as an intermediate disinfectant (20-22). Concerning the SARS-CoV-2, 1000 ppm or 0.1% for surfaces and 10,000 ppm or 1% for blood spills, 0.5% hydroxy peroxide, and 62-71% ethanol may be effective within 60 seconds of contact time (23,24). Of note, instead of spraying directly onto the device, the disinfectant should be wrapped onto a cloth soaked in the disinfectant for the recommended time. The toxic/irritant residue needs to be rinsed off with sterile water and dried (18). The reprocessed semi-critical items should be wrapped (if possible) and stored in a secure place to protect them from environmental contamination. Also, they should be kept in closed drawers, cupboards, or lidded containers to protect them from aerosols and splatters (15).

As mentioned earlier, the most crucial aspect of preventing infection control-related disasters is education and training in infection prevention. The dental operators should have written infection prevention policies and procedures aligned with national and international evidence-based recommendations (16). Reprocessing of heat-sensitive semi-critical items has a narrower margin of safety, and any deviation from the reprocessing protocol can lead to the survival of microorganisms and an increased risk of infection (14). Therefore, to assist dental practitioners in developing an evidence-based strategy to reprocess reusable heat-intolerant semi-critical items, we propose a flow chart as Figure 2.

#### **Study Limitations**

The major limitation of this cross-sectional study was the time of the investigation. The assessment of knowledge and practice for disinfecting a reusable heat-intolerant semi-critical item was carried out much before the COVID-19 pandemic. On the other hand, although the scenarios were different concerning dental practice before and after the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been no major change in the guidelines concerning the disinfection protocols recommended for reusable heat-intolerant semi-critical items such as LCU tips and digital intraoral radiographic sensors. Hence, the validity of the questionnaire holds good even at this point.

This survey demonstrated insufficient knowledge and training regarding the disinfection of these items among dental healthcare providers and dental students. A note of caution is that the results would be different if the investigations were performed during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is because of the increased exposure of healthcare providers to information related to ICPs. However, there are post-COVID-19 studies demonstrated that dental health professionals and students still have insufficient knowledge of disinfection (25-27). Therefore, accurate information on disinfecting different surfaces and devices used in dental practice is imperative to prevent infections.



Figure 2. Recommendation for reprocessing heat-sensitive semi-critical items

DHCP: Dental health care practitioner, PPE: Personal protective equipment, IFU: Information for use, NaOCI: Sodium hypochlorite

#### Conclusion

The majority of the LCUs tested in this study demonstrated bacterial contamination. This could be related to the insufficient knowledge and practice of reprocessing heat-sensitive semicritical items among dental healthcare workers. In these post-COVID-19 years, one should be more cautious in using such instruments since bacterial contamination can cause serious viral contamination. Hence, dentists and auxiliary staff must undergo compulsory task-specific education and training in infection control procedures at regular intervals.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors are thankful to the participants who took part in the study.

#### Ethics

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This cross-sectional study was conducted in 2015 after obtaining Institutional Ethical Committee clearance (protocol no: MCODS/I98/2013, date: 07.12.2013; and amended the protocol on 09.07.2020).

**Informed Consent:** A consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: V.N.M., S.G., M.S.T., E.S., Concept: V.N.M., M.S.T., E.S., S.N., Design: V.N.M., M.S.T., E.S., S.N., Data Collection or Processing: V.N.M., S.G., M.S.T., Analysis or Interpretation: M.S.T., E.S., S.N., Literature Search: V.N.M., S.G., M.S.T., Writing: V.N.M., S.G., M.S.T., E.S.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Sabino-Silva R, Jardim ACG, Siqueira WL. Coronavirus COVID-19 impacts to dentistry and potential salivary diagnosis. Clin Oral Investig. 2020;24:1619-1621.
- Peng X, Xu X, Li Y, Cheng L, Zhou X, Ren B. Transmission routes of 2019-nCoV and controls in dental practice. Int J Oral Sci. 2020;12:9.
- To KK, Tsang OT, Yip CC, et al. Consistent Detection of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Saliva. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71:841-843.
- Laheij AM, Kistler JO, Belibasakis GN, Välimaa H, de Soet JJ; European Oral Microbiology Workshop (EOMW) 2011. Healthcare-associated viral and bacterial infections in dentistry. J Oral Microbiol. 2012;4.
- Puttaiah R, Shulman JD, Youngblood D, et al. Sample infection control needs assessment survey data from eight countries. Int Dent J. 2009;59:271-276.

- Eklund KJ. Infection control. Dent Clin North Am. 2003;47:697-708.
- 7. Rueggeberg FA. State-of-the-art: dental photocuring--a review. Dent Mater. 2011;27:39-52.
- Khode RT, Shenoi PR, Kubde RR, Makade CS, Wadekar KD, Khode PT. Evaluation of effect of different disposable infection control barriers on light intensity of light-curing unit and microhardness of composite - An in vitro study. J Conserv Dent. 2017;20:180-184.
- Pollington S, Kahakachchi N, van Noort R. The influence of plastic light cure sheaths on the hardness of resin composite. Oper Dent. 2009;34:741-745.
- Gao L, Xu T, Huang G, Jiang S, Gu Y, Chen F. Oral microbiomes: more and more importance in oral cavity and whole body. Protein Cell. 2018;9:488-500.
- Mitton BA, Wilson NH. The use and maintenance of visible light activating units in general practice. Br Dent J. 2001;191:82-86.
- AlShaafi MM. Effects of different infection control methods on the intensity output of LED light-curing units. King Saud University J Dent Sci. 2013;4:27-31.
- Janowalla Z, Porter K, Shortall AC, Burke FJT, Sammons RL. Microbial contamination of light curing units: A pilot study. J Infect Prevent. 2010;11:216-221.
- Summary of Infection Prevention Practices in Dental Settings: Basic Expectations for Safe Care. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Dept of Health and Human Services. Last Accessed Date: 10.01.2022. Available from: https://www.cdc. gov/oralhealth/infectioncontrol/pdf/safe-care2.pdf
- Guidelines for Infection Control. Australian Dental Association. Last Accessed Date: 20.03.2022. Available from: https:// www.ada.org.au/Dental-Professionals/Publications/Infection-Control/Guidelines-for-Infection-Control/Guidelines-for-Infection-Control-V4.aspx
- Rutala WA, Weber DJ. COVID-19: Surface disinfection as prevention strategy. Facility Executive website. Last Accessed Date: 20.01.2022. Available from: https://facilityexecutive. com/2020/04/covid-19-surface-disinfection-as-preventionstrategy/
- Decontamination and reprocessing of medical devices for health-care facilities. World Health Organization. Last Accessed Date: 27.03.2022. Available from: https://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/250232/9789241549851-eng. pdf
- Kohn WG, Collins AS, Cleveland JL, et al. Guidelines for infection control in dental health-care settings--2003. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2003;52:1-61.
- List N: Disinfectants for use against SARS-CoV-2. United States Environmental Protection Agency website. Last Accessed Date: 20.03.2022. Available from: https://www.epa. gov/pesticide-registration/list-n-disinfectants-use-againstsars-cov-2
- 20. Rutala WA, Weber DJ. New developments in reprocessing semicritical items. Am J Infect Control. 2013;41:S60-S66.
- 21. Malik K, Patel P, Khachemoune A. Surgical instrument disinfection during the era of COVID-19. Dermatol Online J. 2021;27:13030/qt7x407979.

- 22. Parikh SR, Parikh RS. Chemical disinfectants in ophthalmic practice. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2021;69:510-516.
- Kampf G, Todt D, Pfaender S, Steinmann E. Persistence of coronaviruses on inanimate surfaces and their inactivation with biocidal agents. J Hosp Infect. 2020;104:246-251. Erratum in: J Hosp Infect. 2020.
- 24. Fallahi HR, Keyhan SO, Zandian D, Kim SG, Cheshmi B. Being a front-line dentist during the Covid-19 pandemic: a literature review. Maxillofac Plast Reconstr Surg. 2020;42:12.
- Sarfaraz S, Shabbir J, Mudasser MA, et al. Knowledge and Attitude of Dental Practitioners Related to Disinfection during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Healthcare (Basel). 2020;8:232.
- Umeizudike KA, Isiekwe IG, Fadeju AD, Akinboboye BO, Aladenika ET. Nigerian undergraduate dental students' knowledge, perception, and attitude to COVID-19 and infection control practices. J Dent Educ. 2021;85:187-196.
- 27. Almulhim B, Alassaf A, Alghamdi S, et al. Dentistry Amidst the COVID-19 Pandemic: Knowledge, Attitude, and Practices Among the Saudi Arabian Dental Students. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021;8:654524.



# Comparison of self-esteem and anxiety levels among children with and without precocious puberty

#### Burcu Bakırlıoğlu<sup>1</sup>, Derya Suluhan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Pamukkale University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Denizli, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 29.08.2022

Date accepted: 14.04.2023

Online publication date: 15.09.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Derya Suluhan, RN, PhD, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Nursing, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Ankara, Türkiye +90 506 331 17 38 derya.suluhan@sbu.edu.tr

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7358-7266

**Keywords:** Precocious puberty, selfesteem, self-concept, anxiety

#### ABSTRACT

Aims: This study compared the self-esteem and anxiety levels of children diagnosed with precocious puberty (PP) and healthy children.

**Methods:** A comparative cross-sectional study design was performed. Female children with PP and healthy controls were compared for self-esteem and anxiety using the Coopersmith Self-Esteem Inventory (CSEI) and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children with two sections including the State Anxiety Inventory for Children (SAIC) and the Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children (TAIC).

**Results:** The study included 172 children, 86 females with PP [median age (minimummaximum) 9.41 (8-12.42) years] and 86 healthy controls [median age (minimum-maximum) 9.41 (8.08-12.08) years]. The SAIC scores of female children with PP were significantly higher than that of children without PP [27 (20-51) vs. 24 (20-43), respectively, p=0.002]. There were no differences in TAIC scores [33 (22-53) vs. 32 (20-50), p=0.062] and CSEI scores [80 (28-100) vs. 82 (48-100), p=0.196] between children with and without PP. A negative correlation was observed between the CSEI and SAIC scores in both children with PP (r=-0.354, p<0.001) and without PP (r=-0.339, p<0.001). A negative correlation was observed between the CSEI scores and the TAIC scores in both children with PP (r=-0.684, p<0.001) and without PP (r=-0.504, p=<0.001).

**Conclusions:** The results of this study showed that female children with PP had higher state anxiety than non-PP peers. In both groups, self-esteem scores increased while anxiety scores decreased.

Introduction

Puberty is a process where changes such as sexual maturation, changes in body composition, and rapid skeletal growth occur (1) from 8 to 14 years of age based on ethnicity, environmental factors, and genetics (2,3). Precocious puberty (PP) is defined as atypical puberty in which secondary sexual characteristics such as pubic hair, breast, and genital development appear before 9 years of age in male children and 8 years of age in female children (1,2). The ratio of PP varies from country to country and has been increasing. The global prevalence is 3.5 per 100,000 cases, and the ratio of children diagnosed with PP in Turkey between 2011 and 2015 is 9.5% (4,5).

Pubertal changes in the early puberty period include early breast and genital development and short stature (1). The changes in appearance can cause anxiety and a negative self-perception. In newly diagnosed patients, it is crucial to investigate the psychological effects of the disease as well as physical symptoms in order to identify risky individuals and plan appropriate interventions (6-10).

Developmental crises such as puberty are considered stressful experiences that can result in the appearance of psychopathologies (11). Some clinical symptoms of PP (e.g., thelarche, menstruation, shortness) can cause anxiety in children and their parents. Thelarche may be the biggest problem for female children, whereas menstruation or risky sexual behaviors can be a source of anxiety among parents (1,10).

In a study by Mercader-Yus et al. (12), children with PP had higher anxiety and most suffered difficulty in peer relationships, while Temelturk et al. (6) reported depressive and anxious



behaviors among female children with PP. Çoban et al. (7) determined social anxiety as the most prevalent psychiatric disorder among female children with PP. While Sontag-Padilla et al. (11) observed female children with premature adrenarche having significantly higher stress levels, Graber et al. (10) reported a correlation between premature menarche and symptoms of anxiety and panic attacks, occurring more frequently in female children with PP. Finally, Dorn et al. (13) reported that female children with PP had a higher risk of psychopathology when compared to non-PP peers.

Self-esteem is defined as a person's overall subjective sense of personal worth or value (14). In the early puberty period in which faster development of secondary sexual characteristics is observed, children tend to have difficulties in developing positive self-esteem because they regard themselves as different from their peers (15). In particular, girls who reach puberty earlier seem to find pubertal adjustment challenging, particularly due to difficulties adapting to physical and psychological changes (12,16). Temelturk et al. (6) found that female children aged 7 to 11 with PP had lower selfesteem when compared to non-PP peers.

Some studies showed a correlation between anxiety and self-esteem in girls with PP (6,12). Mercader-Yus et al. (12) showed that female children with PP had higher anxiety levels and more negative self-esteem and body image. Temelturk et al. (6) reported that anxiety correlated with self-concept in both case and control groups. Since early puberty incidence is higher in girls than in boys (1,2), more studies on the relationship between anxiety and self-esteem in girls with PP are needed. Thus, in this study, we compared the levels of anxiety and self-esteem between female children with PP and non-PP peers.

#### **Methods**

#### Study design and participants

A comparative cross-sectional study was conducted in a pediatric endocrinology outpatient clinic of a research and training hospital. The participants were female children with PP and age-matched non-PP peers from two elementary schools in Ankara between November 2020 and April 2021. The PP group included 86 female children aged 8 to 12 years and the control group included 86 female children without PP aged 8 to 12 years.

The sample size was calculated using G\*Power statistical software. Taking the study power of 0.80 and type 1 error of 0.05 in the two groups (12) 85 children were required in each group. From November 2020 through April 2021, 106 children were diagnosed with PP.

The inclusion criteria for children with PP were (i) age between 8 and 12 years and (ii) voluntary participation in the

study. The exclusion criteria were (i) refusal to participate and (ii) diagnosis of a neurologic or psychiatric disorder.

The group without PP initially included 520 students from the Yalçın Eskiyapan Primary School and Talia Yaşar Bakdur Primary School, Ankara. The inclusion criteria for children without PP were (i) age between 8 and 12 years and (ii) voluntary participation in the study. The exclusion criteria were refusing to participate and (ii) diagnosis of a neurologic or psychiatric disorder.

#### **Data collection**

The data were collected using a descriptive information form, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children (STAIC) (17) and the Coopersmith Self-Esteem Inventory (CSEI) (18). The descriptive information form consisted of eight questions, including height, weight, satisfaction with body shape, family income, education level of parent, menarche age of the mother, employment status of parents, and the number of children (6,12,15). Three more questions assessed the characteristics of early puberty in children with PP. Both parents and children were instructed to fill out the form.

#### The evaluation of anxiety

STAIC was developed by Spielberger and Edwards (17) in 1973, and the Turkish validity and reliability study was conducted by Özusta (19). It tests anxiety as a state and trait in two sections named the State Anxiety Inventory for Children (SAIC) and the Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children (TAIC). The sum of the SAIC and TAIC scores is the final score. The SAIC tests how the child feels at a given moment, and the TAIC tests how the child feels in general. The Cronbach's alpha value for SAIC was previously reported as 0.82 (19), and it was 0.89 in the current study. The Cronbach's alpha value was previously reported as 0.81 for the TAIC (19), and it was 0.85 in the current study. Higher scores on SAIC and TAIC show that the child has a higher level of anxiety (17).

#### The evaluation of self-esteem

CSEI was developed by Coopersmith in 1986, and the Turkish validity and reliability study of the tool was conducted by Ozogul (18,20). Cronbach's alpha value for the CSEI was previously reported as 0.77 (20), and it was 0.68 in the current study. The inventory is one of the most commonly used self-report questionnaires designed to measure attitudes toward the self in a variety of areas (family, peers, school, and general social activities) among children. The scores on the inventory range from 0 to 100, and higher scores show a higher level of self-esteem (18).

#### Procedures

After obtaining informed consent from each participant and parents, the Descriptive Information Form, STAIC, and CSEI were delivered to the participants either in the pediatric endocrinology outpatient clinic (patients) or at schools (controls). Selected teachers at schools were informed about the study protocol by the researchers. A total of 168 controls filled out the questionnaires and 86 subjects were picked up randomly from the envelopes taking age groups into account.

#### **Ethical considerations**

Gülhane Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study protocol (no: 2020/459, date: 30.11.2020). Official permission was obtained from the Ankara Provincial Directorate of National Education to enroll the participants without PP (E-14588481-605.99-22222278). Participation was voluntary and anonymous.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences statistics for Windows, version 20.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY: USA, 2011) software package. Descriptive data were presented as mean, standard deviation, median, minimum-maximum, percentages, and frequency values. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was employed to assess the distribution. T-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to compare the outcomes of the two groups.  $\chi^2$  test and Fisher's exact tests were used for categorical comparisons. Spearman's rank correlation test was used for correlations. P<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

#### Results

The characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. The median age (minimum-maximum) was 9.41 (8-12.42) years in children with PP and 9.41 (8.08-12.08) years in children without PP. The two groups were similar in age (p=0.569) and the education level of the mother (p=0.392) and father (p=0.539).

As shown in Table 2, children with PP had higher SAIC scores than those without PP [27 (20-51) vs. 24 (20-43), respectively, p=0.002)]. There were no significant differences in TAIC scores (p=0.062) and CSEI scores (p=0.196) between children with and without PP.

		Female children with PP (n=86)	Female children without PP (n=86)	Test	р
Children					
Age (years), median (min-max)		9.41 (8-12.42)	9.41 (8.08-12.08)	3.512ª	0.569
	Underweight/ Normal	66 (76.7)	61 (70.9)	(	
BMI, n (%)	Overweight	12 (14)	11 (12.8)	- 1.877⁵	0.391
	Obese	8 (9.3)	14 (16.3)	-	
Parents					
	Primary school	9 (10.5)	8 (9.3)		
Education lovel of the methor n	Secondary school	18 (20.9)	10 (11.6)	-	
Education level of the mother, n (%)	High school	28 (32.6)	33 (38.4)	2.997 <sup>ь</sup>	0.39
(~)	Bachelor's and above	31 (36)	35 (40.7)	2.001	0.00
Employment status of the mother,	Unemployed	60 (69.8)	53 (61.6)	- 1.264°	0.26
n (%)	Employed	26 (30.2)	33 (38.4)	- 1.204°	0.20
Menarche age of the mother, median (min-max)		12 (9-15)	13 (10-15)	961.0ª	0.00
	Primary school	6 (7.2)	5 (5.8)		
Education level of the father, n (%)	Secondary school	17 (20.5)	20 (23.2)	-	0.539
	High school	25 (30.1)	33 (38.4)	2.163 <sup>⊳</sup>	
	Bachelor's and above	35 (42.2)	28 (32.6)		
Employment status of the father,	Unemployed	3 (3.6)	5 (5.8)	0.450b	0.501
n (%)	Employed	80 (96.4)	81 (94.2)	- 0.453⁵	0.50
	Nuclear family	78 (90.7)	76 (88.4)		
Family structure n (%)	Extended family	5 (5.8)	8 (9.3)	- - 0.977⁵	0.72
Family structure, n (%)	Single parent family	3 (3.5)	2 (2.3)	0.877*	0.723

Table 1. Continued					
		Female children with PP (n=86)	Female children without PP (n=86)	Test	р
	Spending exceeds income	15 (17.4)	15 (17.4)		
Monthly income situation, n (%)	Income same as spending	50 (58.2)	56 (65.2)	 1.304°	0.512
	Income exceeds spending	21 (24.4)	15 (17.4)	-	
	1	22 (25.6)	20 (23.2)		
Number of children, n (%)	2	50 (58.1)	44 (51.2)	2.256°	0.324
	3 and above	14 (16.3)	22 (25.6)		

a: Mann-Whitney U test, b: Fisher's exact tests, c: x<sup>2</sup> test.

PP: Precocious puberty, BMI: Body mass index, SD: Standard deviation, Min-max: Minimum-maximum

Table 2. The comparison of anxiety and self-esteem scores in female children with and without PP						
Children with PP (n=86) Median (min-max)	Children without PP (n=86) Median (min-max)	Z	р			
27 (20-51)	24 (20-43)	2713.0	0.002			
33 (22-53)	32 (20-50)	3090.5	0.062			
80 (28-100)	82 (48-100)	3278.5	0.196			
	Children with PP (n=86) Median (min-max) 27 (20-51) 33 (22-53)	Children with PP (n=86) Median (min-max)         Children without PP (n=86) Median (min-max)           27 (20-51)         24 (20-43)           33 (22-53)         32 (20-50)	Children with PP (n=86) Median (min-max)         Children without PP (n=86) Median (min-max)         Z           27 (20-51)         24 (20-43)         2713.0           33 (22-53)         32 (20-50)         3090.5			

\*Represents the lowest and highest scores that can be obtained from the scale.

PP: Precocious puberty, STAIC: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children, SAIC: State Anxiety Inventory for Children, CSEI: Coopersmith Self Esteem Inventory, Min-max: Minimum-maximum, Z: Mann-Whitney U test

The children with PP whose mothers had a bachelor's degree or above had higher SAIC scores than those without PP [28 (20-48) vs. 23 (20-40) respectively, p=0.016)] (Table 3). The children with PP whose fathers had a bachelor's degree or above had higher SAIC scores than those without PP [28 (20-48) vs. 22 (20-40), respectively, p=0.001]. The children with PP who had a nuclear family had higher SAIC scores than those without PP [27 (20-51) vs. 24 (20-43) respectively, p=0.004)]. State anxiety was higher among children with PP who were not happy with their appearance than those without PP [(27 (20-50) vs. 24 (20-41), respectively, p=0.005)].

As shown in Table 4, there was a negative correlation between CSEI and SAIC scores (r=-0.354, p<0.001) and between CSEI and TAIC scores (r=-0.684, p<0.001) among the children with PP. There was a negative correlation between CSEI and SAIC scores in the children without PP (r=-0.339, p<0.001) and between CSEI and TAIC scores (r=-0.504, p=<0.001) among the children without PP.

#### Discussion

This study revealed that female children with PP had higher state anxiety than healthy peers. In addition, they had similar self-esteem and trait anxiety compared with their healthy peers.

PP is a stressful condition for preteens (16,21-23). Several studies have shown that female children with PP suffer from anxiety more than controls (8,24,25). Baumann et al. (26)

reported that PP was a source of stress for young patients in their study, and Trépanier et al. (27) showed that early menarche was associated with higher cortisol levels in relation to stress in adolescent girls. Mercader-Yus et al. (12) and Marakaki et al. (21) found that the STAIC score of children diagnosed with PP was higher than the control group. Temelturk et al. (6) found higher state anxiety levels among PP subjects. Other studies (12,21) found that female children with PP tended to have higher anxiety than controls with normal pubertal growth. These findings are consistent with our study, highlighting that female children with PP usually have more anxiety than their non-PP peers (28).

There are contradictory results in the literature regarding self-esteem among girls with PP. In the early stages of puberty, the physical appearance of girls with PP can affect psychological outcomes because of low levels of self-esteem due to changes in physical appearance compared with their peers (1,16). Children with PP often have more psychological difficulties than their non-PP peers, especially due to adjustment problems and unexpected and unusual speed of change (29). The development of self-esteem might be affected in female children whose secondary sexual characteristics develop as they recognize themselves as different from their non-PP peers (16). In the study of Temelturk et al. (6), children with PP had lower self-esteem when compared to that of the control group, contrasting with the results of some other studies (12,30,31).

Mathematical problem in the parameter in the param			SAIC				TAIC				CSEI			
Median         Median	Variables		Children with PP	Children without PP	r		Children without PP	Children without PP	r		Children with PP	Children without PP	r	
Primary trong         E3 (21-42)         Se (21-42)         Se (21-43)         Se			Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)	N	٩	Median (min-max)	Median (min- max)	V	م	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)	7	م
Hom         Secondary         26 (20-5)         3(2 (3-6))         3(2 (3-6))         3(2 (3-6))         3(2 (3-6))         3(2 (6-9))         3(3 (3-6))		Primary school	25 (21-42)	26 (21-43)	36.00	1.000	33 (25-47)	38 (30-46)	27.5	0.423	76 (64-92)	74 (48-100)	33.5	0.815
High school         265 (20-50)         24 (20-41)         3350         0066         355 (20-48)         3350         0076         80 (36-20)         80 (52-30)         835         935 <th< td=""><th>Education level of the</th><td>Secondary school</td><td>25 (20-51)</td><td>26 (21-40)</td><td>88.5</td><td>0.944</td><td>34 (22-53)</td><td>29 (22-49)</td><td>46.0</td><td>0.035</td><td>80 (28-96)</td><td>82 (56-92)</td><td>88.5</td><td>0.944</td></th<>	Education level of the	Secondary school	25 (20-51)	26 (21-40)	88.5	0.944	34 (22-53)	29 (22-49)	46.0	0.035	80 (28-96)	82 (56-92)	88.5	0.944
Bachelors         28 (20-48)         28 (20-48)         35 (20-48)         35 (20-48)         35 (20-48)         35 (20-48)         36 (40-10)         41 (40-	mother	High school	26,5 (20-50)	24 (20-41)	335.0	0.065	35.5 (25-48)	33 (24-50)	339.0	0.076	80 (36-92)	80 (52-92)	383.5	0.252
Primety bolod $29 (21-51)$ $25 (20-34)$ $95$ $0.324$ $34 5 (27-34)$ $16 (27-36)$ $34 5 (27-36)$ $16 (27-36)$		Bachelor's and above	28 (20-48)	23 (20-40)	355.0	0.016	31 (22-48)	32 (20-49)	788.5	0.486	84 (44-100)	84 (64-100)	476.5	0.392
tion fith school24 (20-36)24 (51 (33)160.00.77533 (22-48)33 (25-48)67.060 (60-66)78 (52-100)76 (50-7)High school29 (20-50)25 (20-41)0.3260.17335 (25-48)32 (23-50)35 (0)60 (63-61)36 (64-96)36 (53-92)80 (48-100)375 (35-30)High school29 (20-51)29 (20-41)0.3260.00132 (20-40)32 (22-43)33 (20-50)29 (0)80 (68-91)80 (68-91)36 (68-91)36 (68-91)36 (68-91)36 (38-91)Mid school27 (20-51)24 (20-41)21 (50-3)21 (50-3)33 (20-50)21 (50-3)21 (50-3)20 (28-10) <th< td=""><th></th><td>Primary school</td><td>29 (21-51)</td><td>25 (20-34)</td><td>9.5</td><td>0.329</td><td>34.5 (27-53)</td><td>28 (22-40)</td><td>7.0</td><td>0.177</td><td>74 (28-92)</td><td>76 (52-88)</td><td>14.0</td><td>0.931</td></th<>		Primary school	29 (21-51)	25 (20-34)	9.5	0.329	34.5 (27-53)	28 (22-40)	7.0	0.177	74 (28-92)	76 (52-88)	14.0	0.931
High school $29 (20-50)$ $55 (20-41)$ $0.326$ $0.173$ $35 (23-48)$ $32 (23-50)$ $350 (33)$ $00 (53-92)$ $00 (48-100)$ $3750$ Bachelor's and above $28 (20-48)$ $22 (20-41)$ $2585$ $0.001$ $32 (22-46)$ $32 (20-43)$ $350 (30)$ $80 (43-100)$ $86 (4-96)$ $3650$ Nuclear hund $27 (20-51)$ $24 (20-43)$ $21765$ $0.001$ $335 (22-53)$ $33 (20-50)$ $24965$ $0.030$ $80 (28-100)$ $80 (48-100)$ $3650$ Nuclear hund $27 (20-36)$ $24 (20-43)$ $21765$ $0.002$ $33 (27-43)$ $33 (27-43)$ $31.5 (29-3)$ $20 (30)$ $80 (48-30)$ $80 (48-30)$ $100$ Nuclear hund $27 (22-36)$ $24 (20-41)$ $100$ $0.223$ $33 (27-43)$ $31.5 (29-3)$ $20 (30)$ $80 (48-30)$ $80 (48-30)$ $100$ Nuclear hund $27 (22-36)$ $23 (27-40)$ $33 (27-4)$ $31.5 (29-3)$ $20 (20-6)$ $80 (48-30)$ $80 (48-30)$ $100$ Nuclear hund $21 (20-4)$ $82 (20-4)$ $82 (20-4)$ $81 (2-1)$ $100$ $100$ $100$ Nuclear hund $20 (20-4)$ $24 (20-4)$ $81 (2-1)$ $100$ $100$ $100$ Nuclear hund $20 (20-4)$ $21 (20-4)$ $81 (2-1)$ $100$ $100 (200)$ $100 (200)$ $100 (20-4)$ $100 (20-4)$ $100$ Nuclear hund $20 (20-4)$ $21 (20-4)$ $100 (200)$ $100 (200)$ $100 (200)$ $100 (20-4)$ $100 (20-4)$ $100 (20-$	Education level of the	Secondary school	24 (20-36)	24.5 (21-43)	160.0	0.775	33 (22-48)	33 (25-49)	167.0	0.940	80 (60-96)	78 (52-100)	166.0	0.916
Bachelor's and above and above and above and above and above and above and above and above and above and above and above and above and above abo	father	High school	29 (20-50)	25 (20-41)	0.326	0.173	35 (25-48)	32 (23-50)	358.0	0.391	80 (52-92)	80 (48-100)	375.0	0.553
Nuclear         Value		Bachelor's and above	28 (20-48)	22 (20-40)	258.5	0.001	32 (22-46)	29 (20-44)	359.5	0.070	84 (36-100)	88 (64-96)	365.0	0.082
Extended temily $27 (22-36)$ $3.5 (20-32)$ $16.0$ $0.622$ $33 (27-41)$ $\frac{31.5 (26-)}{41}$ $18.5$ $0.833$ $76 (68-92)$ $80 (64-24)$ $19.0$ Single- parent family $25 (22-37)$ $23.5 (21-26)$ $2.0$ $0.800$ $33 (31-51)$ $28 (26-30)$ $0.000$ $0.200$ $80 (48-88)$ $86 (64-88)$ $15.0$ Single- parent family $25 (22-37)$ $23.5 (21-26)$ $2.0$ $0.800$ $33 (31-51)$ $28 (26-30)$ $15.0$ $20 (20-48)$ $24 (20-41)$ $130.0$ Image: Single- parent family $25 (20-43)$ $23 (21-43)$ $33 (24-48)$ $33 (22-43)$ $1030.5$ $0.200$ $20 (20-48)$ $24 (20-41)$ $130.0$ Image: Single- parent family $25 (20-43)$ $28 (20-43)$ $82 (20)$ $82 (20)$ $82 (20-43)$ $82$		Nuclear family	27 (20-51)	24 (20-43)	2176.5	0.004	33.5 (22-53)	33 (20-50)	2496.5	0.091	80 (28-100)	80 (48-100)	262.9	0.223
	Family structure	Extended family	27 (22-36)	23.5 (20-32)	16.0	0.622	33 (27-41)	31.5 (26- 41)	18.5	0.833	76 (68-92)	80 (64-24)	19.0	0.943
		Single- parent family	25 (22-37)	23.5 (21-26)	2.0	0.800	33 (31-51)	28 (26-30)	0.000	0.200	80 (48-88)	86 (84-88)	1.5	0.400
er of an         2         25.5 (20-43)         25 (20-40)         882.5         0.098         33 (24-48)         33 (22-49)         1030.5 $25.5 (20^{-})$ 25 (20-40)         882.5           an         3         2 <t< td=""><th></th><td>-</td><td>30 (20-48)</td><td>24 (20-41)</td><td>130.0</td><td>0.023</td><td>34 (22-51)</td><td>32 (20-50)</td><td>158.5</td><td>0.120</td><td>30 (20-48)</td><td>24 (20-41)</td><td>130.0</td><td>0.023</td></t<>		-	30 (20-48)	24 (20-41)	130.0	0.023	34 (22-51)	32 (20-50)	158.5	0.120	30 (20-48)	24 (20-41)	130.0	0.023
3       26.5 ( $20-51$ )       23 ( $20-43$ )       119.5       0.267       35 ( $22-53$ )       31 ( $21-49$ )       116.0       0.227 $26.5 (20-5)$ 23 ( $20-31$ )       119.5         ace       Exists $27 (20-50)$ $24 (20-41)$ $1501.5$ <b>0.005</b> $32.5 (22-48)$ $32 (20-50)$ $1865.0$ $0.273$ $80 (52-100)$ $84 (52-100)$ $203.8$ ace       Exists $27 (20-51)$ $24 (20-41)$ $1501.5$ <b>0.005</b> $32.5 (22-48)$ $32 (20-50)$ $1865.0$ $0.273$ $80 (52-100)$ $84 (52-100)$ $203.8$ with       Does not       Exist $26.5 (20-51)$ $139.5$ $0.459$ $35.5 (26-53)$ $35 (26-48)$ $157.5$ $0.828$ $76 (28-96)$ $76 (48-88)$ $152.5$	Number of	N	25.5 (20-43)	25 (20-40)	882.5	0.098	33 (24-48)	33 (22-49)	1030.5	0.598	25.5 (20- 43)	25 (20-40)	882.5	0.098
ace       Exists       27 (20-50)       24 (20-41)       1501.5       0.005       32,5 (22-48)       32 (20-50)       1865.0       0.273       80 (52-100)       84 (52-100)       20.3.8         e not       with       Does not       26.5 (20-51)       26 (21-43)       139.5       0.459       35.5 (26-53)       35 (26-48)       157.5       0.828       76 (28-96)       76 (48-88)       152.5		n	26.5 (20-51)	23 (20-43)	119.5	0.267	35 (22-53)	31 (21-49)	116.0	0.227	26.5 (20- 51)	23 (20-43)	119.5	0.267
<b>e not</b> with Does not 26.5 (20-51) 26 (21-43) 139.5 0.459 35.5 (26-53) <sup>35</sup> (26-48) 157.5 0.828 76 (28-96) 76 (48-88) 152.5 ou exist	Any place	Exists	27 (20-50)	24 (20-41)	1501.5	0.005	32,5 (22-48)	32 (20-50)	1865.0	0.273	80 (52-100)	84 (52-100)	203.8	0.771
	you are not happy with how you look?	Does not exist	26.5 (20-51)	26 (21-43)	139.5	0.459	35.5 (26-53)	35 (26-48)	157.5	0.828	76 (28-96)	76 (48-88)	152.5	0.828

 
 Table 4. Correlation analyses of SAIC and TAIC scores with CSEI scores

		CSEI			
Group	Inventory	95%CI			
		r*	р	Lower	Upper
Female	SAIC	-0.354	<0.001	-0.535	-0.145
children with PP	TAIC	-0.684	<0.001	-0.807	-0.535
Female	SAIC	-0.339	<0.001	-0.520	-0.135
children without PP	TAIC	-0.504	<0.001	-0.660	-0.322

SAIC: State Anxiety Inventory for Children, TAIC: Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children, CSEI: Coopersmith Self Esteem Inventory, PP: Precocious puberty, r=Correlation coefficient. This coefficient takes a value between (1) and (+1), 95% CI: 95% confidence interval (lower upper bound), \*Spearman's rank correlation test

Similar to the previous works (30,31), female children with PP had similar self-esteem to that of the healthy children in this study.

Parental education level may determine anxiety among children (24). There is an inverse relationship between education level and anxiety, and individuals with higher education levels develop skills in coping with stress (22). In contrast, in our study, the state anxiety scale score was higher in children with PP whose parents had a bachelor's degree or above. These results point to the importance of qualitative and quantitative research on the differential effects of higher education levels of mothers with the stress levels of children with PP.

Any disease in a family member changes the homeostatic balance of the whole family. In such cases, the system tends to adapt to the new situation that often negatively impacts the family and the patient's health (1). The family structure is also associated with the anxiety levels of children (24). In the current study, children with PP in nuclear families had higher SAIC scores than those in the control group. This finding may be related to the limited support system for family members.

In normal puberty, as changes in the body and appearance occur, it may be difficult for the child to adapt to the new situation, and thus, a worse body image and lower self-esteem can develop (1,15). In the current study, girls with PP who were unhappy with their appearance had higher state anxiety. In children with PP, with the onset of early puberty, the children were thought to adapt to the changes in their body over time compared to their non-PP peers since no significant difference in TAIC scores was found.

The psychosocial development theory of Erik Erikson points out the importance of difficulties due to physical changes, and this is important for these children to adapt to their peers. This may lead to identity confusion in adolescence (32). In the present study, both children with PP and their non-PP peers who had problems with their body appearance were affected by lower self-esteem levels, showing that a good body image was important for the development of self-esteem in both groups (32).

Self-esteem levels in adolescence may depend on lifestyle, family, and social environment (33). Adolescents who receive support from their families and friends have better traits, experience less anxiety, and have higher levels of self-esteem (33). In Atay et al. (33), self-esteem levels were higher in single children in the family than in children with siblings. Likewise, the reason for the lower self-esteem in the present study in children with PP without siblings than the children in the control group might be related to support from the family members. The support given by the family is also a source of avoiding and analyzing sociologic and psychological problems, overcoming difficulties, and protecting mental health (33).

We studied the potential correlations between the scores of children with and without PP on the STAIC and the CSEI. Previous studies have shown a negative correlation between anxiety and self-esteem (6,24). Temelturk et al. (6) reported that the STAIC scores correlated with Piers-Harris Children's Self-Concept Scale scores in both case and control groups. In a study by Mendle et al. (24), the anxiety scores of children with PP were correlated with lower self-esteem. Likewise, in the present study, self-esteem was one of the most related factors that affected anxiety because a negative correlation was observed between STAIC and CSEI scores in both groups.

#### **Study Limitations**

Since the study coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic, the data of the children without PP had to be collected by their teachers outside the author group. Another limitation is the crosssectional design precluding causal inferences from the results. Further qualitative research should evaluate the effect of PP on psychological changes.

#### Conclusion

This study showed that there were no differences between female children with PP and non-PP peers in terms of selfesteem. On the other hand, the state anxiety levels among subjects with PP were higher than those of their non-PP peers. These results reveal that health professionals should be aware of changes in children with PP and determine whether children experience negative feelings about PP such as high anxiety. The results of this study demonstrate the necessity of encouraging children with PP to talk about their feelings related to early puberty.

#### Ethics

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Gülhane Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study protocol (no: 2020/459, date: 30.11.2020).

**Informed Consent:** Consent form was filled out by all participants.

**Peer-review:** Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: D.S., Design: D.S., Data Collection or Processing: B.B., D.S., Analysis or Interpretation: B.B., D.S., Literature Search: B.B., D.S., Writing: B.B., D.S.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- López-Miralles M, Lacomba-Trejo L, Valero-Moreno S, Benavides G, Pérez-Marín M. Psychological aspects of pre-adolescents or adolescents with precocious puberty: A systematic review. J Pediatr Nurs. 2022;64:e61-e68.
- Pagani S, Calcaterra V, Acquafredda G, et al. MKRN3 and KISS1R mutations in precocious and early puberty. Ital J Pediatr. 2020;46:39.
- Avnon Ziv C, Tzvi-Behr S, Ben-Shalom E, et al. Early puberty in end stage renal failure and renal transplant recipients. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2019;32:577-583.
- Keshavan MS, Giedd J, Lau JY, Lewis DA, Paus T. Changes in the adolescent brain and the pathophysiology of psychotic disorders. Lancet Psychiatry. 2014;1:549-558.
- Eklioğlu BS, Atabek ME, Akyürek N, Sarıkaya E. Endokrinoloji polikliniğine puberte bulguları ile başvuran olguların etiyolojik dağılımı ve klinik özellikleri. Türkiye Çocuk Hast Derg. 2016;10:233-236.
- Temelturk RD, Ilcioglu Ekici G, Beberoglu M, Siklar Z, Kilic BG. Managing precocious puberty: A necessity for psychiatric evaluation. Asian J Psychiatr. 2021;58:102617.
- Çoban ÖG, Bedel A, Önder A, Adanır AS, Tuhan H, Parlak M. Psychiatric disorders, peer-victimization, and quality of life in girls with central precocious puberty. J Psychosom Res. 2021;143:110401.
- Williams VSL, Soliman AM, Barrett AM, Klein KO. Review and evaluation of patient-centered psychosocial assessments for children with central precocious puberty or early puberty. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2018;31:485-495.
- Karamustafalıoğlu O, Yumrukçal H. Depression and anxiety disorders. Med Bull Sisli Etfal Hosp. 2011;45:65-74.
- Graber JA, Seeley JR, Brooks-Gunn J, Lewinsohn PM. Is pubertal timing associated with psychopathology in young adulthood. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2004;43:718-726.
- Sontag-Padilla LM, Dorn LD, Tissot A, Susman EJ, Beers SR, Rose SR. Executive functioning, cortisol reactivity, and symptoms of psychopathology in girls with premature adrenarche. Dev Psychopathol. 2012;24:211-223.

- Mercader-Yus E, Neipp-López MC, Gómez-Méndez P, et al. Anxiety, Self-esteem and Body Image in Girls with Precocious Puberty. Rev Colomb Psiquiatr (Engl Ed). 2018;47:229-236.
- Dorn LD, Rose SR, Rotenstein D, et al. Differences in endocrine parameters and psychopathology in girls with premature adrenarche versus on-time adrenarche. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2008;21:439-448.
- Çuhadaroğlu A, Çelik S. Comparison of social adaptation and self-esteem of the 5th grade students who started the 1st class in the period of 2012-2013 between 60-66 months and over 66 months. Afyon Kocatepe University Journal of Social Sciences. 2019;21:109-128.
- Kang CK, Oh WO. Factors influencing self-esteem of girls with precocious puberty. Journal of East-West Nursing Research. 2019;25:41-49.
- Hong YH, Woo YJ, Lee JH, Shin YL, Lim HS. Association between Dietary Habits and Parental Health with Obesity among Children with Precocious Puberty. Children (Basel). 2020;7:220.
- Spielberger CD, Edwards CD. STAIC Preliminary manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children ("How I Feel Questionnaire"). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press. 1973.
- Coopersith S. Self-esteem and need achievement as determinants of selective recall and repetition. J Abnorm Soc Psychol. 1960;60:310-317.
- Özusta HŞ. Çocuklar için Durumluk-Sürekli Kaygı Envanteri uyarlama, geçerlik ve güvenirlik çalışması. Türk Psikoloji Dergisi. 1995;10:32-34.
- 20. Ozogul SN. Effect on the self-esteem of the child of mother's work and some individual qualities. Unpublished master's thesis, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey, 1988.
- 21. Marakaki C, Pervanidou P, Papassotiriou I, et al. Increased symptoms of anxiety and depression in prepubertal girls, but not boys, with premature adrenarche: associations with serum DHEAS and daily salivary cortisol concentrations. Stress. 2018;21:564-568.
- Bjelland I, Krokstad S, Mykletun A, Dahl AA, Tell GS, Tambs K. Does a higher educational level protect against anxiety and depression? The HUNT study. Soc Sci Med. 2008;66:1334-1345.
- Serin NB, Öztürk S. The relationship between the self esteem and the anxiety levels of children between the age 9-13 whose parents had divorced and the same range of whom are not divorced. KEFAD. 2007;8:117-128.
- 24. Mendle J, Turkheimer E, Emery RE. Detrimental Psychological Outcomes Associated with Early Pubertal Timing in Adolescent Girls. Dev Rev. 2007;27:151-171.
- 25. Kim EY, Lee MI. Psychosocial aspects in girls with idiopathic precocious puberty. Psychiatry Investig. 2012;9:25-28.
- Baumann DA, Landolt MA, Wetterwald R, Dubuis JM, Sizonenko PC, Werder EA. Psychological evaluation of young women after medical treatment for central precocious puberty. Horm Res. 2001;56:45-50.

- 27. Trépanier L, Juster RP, Marin MF, et al. Early menarche predicts increased depressive symptoms and cortisol levels in Quebec girls ages 11 to 13. Dev Psychopathol. 2013;s25:1017-1027.
- Pomerantz H, Parent J, Forehand R, Breslend NL, Winer JP. Pubertal Timing and Youth Internalizing Psychopathology: The Role of Relational Aggression. J Child Fam Stud. 2017;26:416-423.
- 29. Herrera VA, Marván ML. Factores asociados a la aparición temprana de la menarca: una revisión narrativa. Psicologia y Salud. 2014;24:235-244.
- Jackson PL, Ott MJ. Perceived self-esteem among children diagnosed with precocious puberty. J Pediatr Nurs. 1990;5:190-203.

- 31. Nacinovich R, Buzi F, Oggiano S, et al. Body experiences and psychopathology in idiopathic central precocious and early puberty. Minerva Pediatr. 2016;68:11-18.
- 32. Newton JT, Harrison V. The cognitive and social development of the child. Dent Update. 2005;32:33-34, 37-38.
- Atay İM, Tuncer Ö, Türker Y, Tuncer H. Number of siblings and self-concept relationship in adolescents. Duzce Med J. 2014;16:22-25.



## **Tuberculosis of the wrist**

#### Buse Hacıoğlu<sup>1</sup>, D Emre Tekgöz<sup>2</sup>, D İlker Taşçı<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine & Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine & Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye

## Date submitted: 23.09.2022

Date accepted: 28.04.2023

Online publication date: 15.09.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Buse Hacıoğlu, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine & Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye +90 507 236 51 04 busex06@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3838-7610

Keywords: Tuberculosis, tuberculosis of wrist, arthritis, septic arthritis

#### Introduction

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (TB) is an infectious agent that can affect several organ systems and cause various symptoms. The most common presentation is pulmonary TB. Extrapulmonary TB diagnoses have been increasing worldwide due to the more frequent use of long-term immunosuppressive treatment for many indications. Examples include but are not limited to human immunodeficiency virus infection, organ transplantation, and rheumatic, hematologic, gastrointestinal, and dermatologic inflammatory conditions.

Musculoskeletal involvement is the third most common presentation of TB after the lung and lymph nodes, accounting for approximately 10-20% of all cases of extrapulmonary disease. The joint involvement is generally monoarticular and

ABSTRACT

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (TB) is an infectious agent that can affect several organ systems and can cause various symptoms. The most common presentation is pulmonary TB. The incidence of extrapulmonary TB has become much more common worldwide due to the more frequent use of long-term immunosuppressive treatment for various indications. Examples include but are not limited to human immunodeficiency virus infection, organ transplantation, and rheumatic, hematologic, gastrointestinal, and dermatologic inflammatory conditions. Osteoarticular involvement is the third most common presentation of TB after the lung and lymph nodes, accounting for approximately 10-20% of all cases of extrapulmonary disease. The joint involvement is generally monoarticular and progresses insidiously. Skeletal TB mostly involves weight-bearing joints such as the hip and knee. Wrist involvement is rarely encountered and accounts for only 1% of skeletal TB. Herein, we describe a rare involvement of musculoskeletal TB in a renal transplant recipient.

> progresses insidiously. Skeletal TB commonly involves weightbearing joints such as the hip and knee (1-3). Wrist involvement is rarely encountered and accounts for only 1% of skeletal TB. Here we describe a rare involvement of musculoskeletal TB in a renal transplant recipient.

#### **Case Presentation**

The patient was a 57-year-old woman admitted for pain and swelling in her right wrist for seven months. There was no history of trauma, fever, infection, rheumatic disease, or psoriasis. She had significant night sweats in the last two months and 15 kg involuntary weight loss in two years. In addition to hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and chronic kidney disease, she was a renal transplant recipient for 7 years. She could not give information about the result of the purified protein derivative



(PPD) test before transplantation. She had a history of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination postpartum and no known TB cases among family members. Her treatment included mycophenolic acid, tacrolimus, prednisolone, amlodipine, furosemide, diltiazem chloride, subcutaneous insulin glargine, and glulisine.

Physical examination was remarkable for local swelling, tenderness, and pain by movements in the right wrist (Figure 1). Laboratory analyses showed a white blood cell count of 18,400/ microliter, neutrophil count of 17,400/microliter, lymphocyte count of 300/microliter, creatinine 1.11 mg/dL, urea 28 mg/ dL, CRP 180 mg/dL, erythrocyte sedimentation rate 44 mm/h, procalcitonin 1.55 ng/mL, negative antinuclear antibody and negative anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide, complement component 3, complement component 4, normal level of antistreptolysin O, and positive rheumatoid factor. Serological tests for hepatitis B, hepatitis C, Brucella, and parvovirus B19 Epstein-Barr virus were non-reactive. The chest X-ray showed increased density in the upper left and lower right paracardiac areas, in the upper zones of the lung parenchyma on both sides. The patient's current tomography findings were not suggestive of TB. Sputum culture was negative for TB bacilli.

The joint aspiration showed turbid and cloudy synovial fluid. Microscopic examination of the joint fluid showed 3-4 polymorphonuclear leukocytes in each field and Gram-positive bacilli. Mononuclear cell count and acid-fast bacilli test were not available. Joint fluid was positive for the mycobacterium TB polymerase chain reaction test and rifampicin resistance was not detected. The PPD test and the quantiferon TB gold test were not available.

The patient underwent surgery with a prediagnosis of septic arthritis (Figure 2), and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* was



Figure 1. Local swelling of the wrist





isolated from the joint aspirate culture. The patient was started treatment with a 2-month isoniazid 300 mg, rifampicin 600 mg, ethambutol 15-25 mg/kg, and pyrazinamide 25 mg/kg protocol, followed by a 7-month isoniazid and rifampicin treatment. Her symptoms improved remarkably, with no recurrence of arthritis.

#### Discussion

The incidence of TB is increasing rapidly, including in developed countries (4). Immunosuppression from any cause except old age, nutritional status, alcohol or drug abuse, and a history of or exposure to TB predispose to clinically overt disease (4,5).

The spread of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to joints can occur through different mechanisms. The most common route is hematological dissemination from the primary source or a reactivated infected focus. Direct extension from osteomyelitis and direct inoculation from the infected paraarticular tissue is among the other mechanisms. Night sweats, asthenia, and loss of appetite are the most common symptoms in TB cases (5). Although our patient did not report a marked loss of appetite, other symptoms were present. On the other hand, most conditions with inflammatory arthritis can cause such symptoms. Combined with the symptoms, we proactively ordered TB tests in joint aspirate and made the diagnosis in the current case. However, in the absence of positive chest X-ray findings, diagnosis could be difficult in a reasonable time.

The most common form of musculoskeletal involvement is TB spondylitis, accounting for approximately 50-70% of all cases (6,7). Musculoskeletal TB presents in the peripheral joints in 30% of all cases (7). TB arthritis typically involves weight-bearing joints such as the hip and knee, but any joints, including the shoulder, elbow, ankle, wrist, sternoclavicular, and those of the hand and foot, can be affected (1-3). Multiple joint involvements can be observed (8). Interestingly, wrist joint involvement, like in our patient, is rare, accounting for around 1% of all skeletal TB diagnoses (9). TB arthritis may most often be confused with rheumatoid arthritis and pyogenic arthritis. Classical manifestations of TB arthritis include pain, swelling, and functional limitation, similar to any form of joint inflammation. The abscess formation occurs in 20-25% of cases. Although rheumatoid arthritis can manifest with the typical symmetrical polyarticular disease, initial monoarticular involvement is rare and can persist for a long time. In the differential diagnosis, large bone erosion and paraarticular abscesses support the diagnosis of TB arthritis rather than rheumatoid arthritis. The diagnosis of TB is generally made using radiological, microbiological, and histopathological findings. The classical long-term treatment entails a 9-month course of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide, and ethambutol (10). Accordingly, the recommended protocol improved the symptoms in our patient.

This rare wrist TB patient shows that TB can affect every joint. Furthermore, careful examination of symptoms, lung findings, and joint aspirate is critical in making the diagnosis, and systemic TB treatment improves joint findings.

#### Ethics

**Informed Consent:** A consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: B.H., E.T., İ.T., Design: B.H., E.T., İ.T., Data Collection or Processing: B.H., E.T., İ.T., Analysis or Interpretation: B.H., E.T., İ. K; Literature Search: B.H., E.T., İ.T., Writing: B.H., E.T., İ.T.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Poppel MH, Lawrence LR, Jacobson HG, Stein J. Skeletal tuberculosis: a roentgenographic survey with reconsideration of diagnostic criteria. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1953;70:936-963.
- Davies PD, Humphries MJ, Byfield SP, et al. Bone and joint tuberculosis. A survey of notifications in England and Wales. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1984;66:326-330.
- Enarson DA, Fujii M, Nakielna EM, Grzybowski S. Bone and joint tuberculosis: a continuing problem. Can Med Assoc J. 1979;120:139-145.
- Habib M, Tanwar YS, Jaiswal A, Arya RK. Tubercular arthritis of the elbow joint following olecranon fracture fixation and the role of TGF-beta in its pathogenesis. Chin J Traumatol. 2013;16:288-291.
- Bonfioli AA, de Miranda SS, Campos WR, Orefice F. Tuberculosis. Semin Ophthalmol. 2005;20:169-175.
- Moore SL, Rafii M. Imaging of musculoskeletal and spinal tuberculosis. Radiol Clin North Am. 2001;39:329-342.
- Muangchan C, Nilganuwong S. The study of clinical manifestation of osteoarticular tuberculosis in Siriraj Hospital, Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai. 2009;92 Suppl 2:S101-S109.
- Valdazo JP, Perez-Ruiz F, Albarracin A, et al. Tuberculous arthritis. Report of a case with multiple joint involvement and periarticular tuberculous abscesses. J Rheumatol. 1990;17:399-401.
- Procopie I, Popescu EL, Huplea V, et al. Osteoarticular Tuberculosis-Brief Review of Clinical Morphological and Therapeutic Profiles. Curr Health Sci J. 2017;43:171-190.
- Tuli SM. General principles of osteoarticular tuberculosis. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2002:11-19.



141

## Autoimmune hepatitis and primary biliary cholangitis overlap syndrome after mRNA COVID-19 vaccination

Nadir Süleyman Çetinkaya<sup>1</sup>, Mustafa Cengiz<sup>2</sup>, Emine Gül Aydın<sup>2</sup>

ABSTRACT

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine & Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 07.10.2022

Date accepted: 15.03.2023

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nadir Süleyman Çetinkaya, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine & Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye +90 537 554 19 19 drnscetinkaya@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8579-9944

Keywords: Autoimmune hepatitis. primary biliary cholangitis, COVID-19 vaccine, mRNA vaccine, overlap syndrome

#### Introduction

The first case of Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) was reported in December 2019 in China. The World Health Organization declared it a pandemic on March 11, 2020 (1). Although various treatment modalities have emerged, no effective treatment has yet been found. Inactivated mRNA COVID-19 vaccines are still used as the most effective choice for protection. However, as with all other vaccines, it may have various adverse effects.

The overlap syndrome indicates an association between autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) and sclerosis cholangitis or primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) (2). Considering its immunological and clinical features, 1 to 14 percent of patients with PBC have a variant form of AIH (3,4). Features of AIH may present at diagnosis or may develop during follow-up. Paris criteria for diagnosis of AIH and PBC (overlap syndrome) are used according to laboratory and biopsy results (5). Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level 5 fold ULN, immunoglobulin G level 2 fold or the presence of smooth muscle antibodies, and interface hepatitis on histological examination are the three characteristics associated with AIH that are required by the Paris criteria for the AIP-PBC overlap syndrome. Additionally, two of the following PBC-related characteristics are required to make the diagnosis: florid duct lesions or destructive cholangitis on

Online publication date: 15.09.2023

The overlap syndrome indicates an association between autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) and sclerosis cholangitis or primary biliary cholangitis (PBC). We report a case of a 32-year-old patient who experienced overlap syndrome ten days after receiving the first dose of the mRNA Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) vaccine. Liver biopsy showed primarily AIH and "overlap syndrome" for PBC. Serum IgG was elevated, and ANA (1/100) and anti-mitochondrial antibody was positive. The patient's treatment plan included prednisolone, ursodeoxycholic acid and azathioprine. Overlap syndrome related to the mRNA COVID-19 vaccines is a very rare entity. After the histopathological diagnosis of the patient, remission was achieved following treatment.



©Copyright 2023 by author. Gülhane Medical Journal is owned by the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye and published by Galenos Publishing House. Licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License

histological examination and serum alkaline phosphatase level 2-fold ULN or gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) level 5-fold (6). Here we report a case of AIH and PBC (overlap syndrome) that developed after mRNA vaccination.

#### **Case Presentation**

A 32-year-old male patient without a remarkable medical history was admitted to our gastroenterology clinic with icterus, dark urine, weakness, nausea, and vomiting. There was no alcohol or drug abuse history. COVID-19 history was negative. He had received the first dose of the mRNA COVID-19 vaccine 10 days ago. His physical examination revealed icterus in the sclera and mucous membranes when he was hospitalized. The patient's laboratory results were as follows; aspartate transaminase 808 U/L (range 15-40 U/L), ALT 960 U/L (range 10-40 U/L), total bilirubin 15.4 mg/ dL (range 0.3-1.2 mg/dL), direct bilirubin 8.1 mg/dL (range 0-0.2 mg/dL), alkaline phosphatase 211 U/L (range 35-120 U/L), GGT 128 U/L (range 0-55 U/L), amylase 93 U/L (range 28-100 U/L), lipase 87 U/L (range 10-67 U/L), international normalized ratio 1.17 (range 0.8-1.2), C-reactive protein 9.8 mg/L (range 0-5 mg/L), antinuclear antibodies (ANA) positive (1/100) and anti-mitochondrial antibody-M2 (AMA-M2) 45.5 U/ mL (range positive >10 U/mL), immunoglobulin G level was 1787 mg/dL (range 700-1600 mg/dL). The hepatitis panel, viral serology, and other serological markers were negative. The laboratory results of patients are presented in Table 1. Abdominal ultrasonography revealed gallbladder sludge.

Contrast-enhanced abdominal computed tomography showed no pathology except for edema in the periportal area and pericholecystic fluid collection. Abdominal magnetic resonance imaging/magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography revealed periportal edema and a few minimally enlarged lymph nodes. The findings were reported to suggest inflammatory conditions of the biliary system.

A percutaneous liver biopsy was performed. The liver biopsy sample included more than 12 total portal tracts and was longer than 20 mm. Hematoxylin and eosin and Masson trichrome stains showed inflammation with moderate lymphoplasmacytic and eosinophilic leukocytes, marked cholestasis, and bile duct proliferation in the portal areas. In addition to moderate severe interface and parenchymal inflammation, local hepatocyte necrosis and degeneration were detected. Immunohistochemical studies showed disrupted reticulin framework, stage 3 fibrosis with Masson's trichrome (Figure 1B), and minimal iron deposition with iron staining. There were mixed inflammatory infiltrates including mononuclear cells, eosinophils, and scattered neutrophil infiltration in the bile ducts in the portal areas (Figure 1A). Immunohistochemical studies showed common CD38, CD138, and CD68 staining and plasma cells and histiocytes and duct proliferation with CK7 and CK19 staining. These findings suggested primarily an AIH diagnosis and fluoride duct lesion, but the presence of AMA autoantibodies and bile duct damage was suggestive of an "overlap syndrome" with PBC (7).

Table 1. Laboratory test results			
Test	At diagnosis	After treatment	Reference range
Aspartate transaminase	808 U/L	13 U/L	15-40 U/L
Alanine aminotransferase	960 U/L	20 U/L	10-40 U/L
Total bilirubin	15.4 mg/dL	0.8 mg/dL	0.3-1.2 mg/dL
Direct bilirubin	8.1 mg/dL	0.24 mg/dL	0-0.2 mg/dL
Alkaline phosphatase	211 U/L	94 U/L	35-120 U/L
Gamma-glutamyl transferase	128 U/L	36 U/L	0-55 U/L
Amylase	93 U/L	88 U/L	28-100 U/L
Lipase	87 U/L	48 U/L	10-67 U/L
Prothrombin time	13.5 seconds	10.6	9.7-14.3 seconds
International normalized ratio	1.17	0.88	0.8-1.2
Partial thromboplastin time	38.7 seconds	22.4 seconds	22-38 seconds
C-reactive protein	9.8 mg/L	1.7 mg/L	0-5 mg/L
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	77 mm/h	27 mm/h	0-20 mm/h
Antinuclear antibodies	Positive 1/100		
Anti-mitochondrial antibody-M2	45.5 U/mL positive		Positive >10 U/mL
Immunoglobulin G	1787 mg/dL		700-1600 mg/dL
Immunoglobulin M	178 mg/dL		40-230 mg/dL
Immunoglobulin A	407 mg/dL		70-400 mg/dL
Seruloplasmin	0.4 g/L		0.2-0.6 g/L



Figure 1. Liver biopsy result was compatible with an overlap syndrome. A) Mixed inflammatory infiltrate including mononuclear cells, eosinophils and scattered neutrophils in bile ducts in the portal areas (hematoxylin-eosin stain). B) Fibrotic band formation in liver parenchyma (Masson's trichrome stain)

#### Discussion

mRNA COVID-19 vaccination can stimulate innate immunity (8). AIH cases have been reported after Severe acute respiratory syndrome-Coronavirus-2 vaccination in the literature (8-14). The first case of AIH after the mRNA COVID-19 vaccine was reported by Bril et al. (9). However, to the best of our knowledge, an overlap syndrome related to the mRNA COVID-19 vaccines has not been reported before. Our patient's biopsy findings were similar to those described by Bril et al. (9). We used the Paris criteria for AIH and PBC (overlap syndrome) diagnosis (5) and our patient had histological features of AIH and PBC.

The patient was seropositive for ANA and AMA, and AMA, ANA, and IgG levels were consistent with the literature (8-11,14). Biopsy findings were also consistent with overlap syndrome. Most patients reported previously were female, while our patient was male (8-13). Clayton-Chubb et al. (14) reported a similar case, a 36-year-old man who developed AIH after the mRNA COVID-19 vaccine. Another case (15) similar to the current report showed symptoms and laboratory results in a 57-year-old man who developed AIH-PBC overlap syndrome after COVID-19. Nevertheless, no liver biopsy was performed for that patient. Our patient's histopathological findings were compatible with AIH-PBC overlap syndrome.

Treatment included prednisolone 40 mg/day, ursodeoxycholic acid 15 mg/kg, and azathioprine 50 mg/ day. The patient's symptoms regressed after one month of treatment, and the laboratory results were in the normal range (Table 1). Similar responses were reported in other AIH cases (8-14).

AIH has been linked to various drugs (minocycline, alpha methyldopa, nitrofurantoin, infliximab, and statins). On the other hand, AIH/PBC coexistence is difficult to distinguish histopathologically, and making a clear differentiation between PBC and PBC-AIH overlap syndrome is important before selecting treatment options (16).

#### Conclusion

We present here that the mRNA COVID-19 vaccine may be associated with a diagnosis of overlap syndrome of AIH and PBC. Hence, clinicians should pay attention to this uncommon adverse effect of the mRNA COVID-19 vaccine and care should be taken especially in patients who develop hepatic dysfunction after vaccination.

#### Ethics

**Informed Consent:** The patient consented to the publication of this report.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practice - Concept - Design - Data Collection or Processing - Analysis or Interpretation - Literature Search - Writing: N.S.Ç., M.C., E.G.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Ramezani M, Nemati H, Najafi F, Sayad B, Sadeghi M. A systematic review and meta-analysis on blood levels of cytokines/chemokines in COVID-19 cases. Gulhane Med J. 2022;64:208-216.
- Krawitt EL. Autoimmune hepatitis. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:54-66.
- Czaja AJ. Frequency and nature of the variant syndromes of autoimmune liver disease. Hepatology. 1998;28:360-365.
- Poupon R, Chazouilleres O, Corpechot C, Chrétien Y. Development of autoimmune hepatitis in patients with typical primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2006;44:85-90.
- Kuiper EM, Zondervan PE, van Buuren HR. Paris criteria are effective in diagnosis of primary biliary cirrhosis and autoimmune hepatitis overlap syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;8:530-534.
- Chazouillères O, Wendum D, Serfaty L, Montembault S, Rosmorduc O, Poupon R. Primary biliary cirrhosis-autoimmune hepatitis overlap syndrome: clinical features and response to therapy. Hepatology. 1998;28:296-301.
- Boberg KM, Chapman RW, Hirschfield GM, et al. Overlap syndromes: the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group

(IAIHG) position statement on a controversial issue. J Hepatol. 2011;54:374-385.

- Londoño MC, Gratacós-Ginès J, Sáez-Peñataro J. Another case of autoimmune hepatitis after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination - still casualty? J Hepatol. 2021;75:1248-1249.
- Bril F, Al Diffalha S, Dean M, Fettig DM. Autoimmune hepatitis developing after coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) vaccine: Causality or casualty? J Hepatol. 2021;75:222-224.
- Rocco A, Sgamato C, Compare D, Nardone G. Autoimmune hepatitis following SARS-CoV-2 vaccine: May not be a casuality. J Hepatol. 2021;75:728-729.
- Tan CK, Wong YJ, Wang LM, Ang TL, Kumar R. Autoimmune hepatitis following COVID-19 vaccination: True causality or mere association? J Hepatol. 2021;75:1250-1252.
- McShane C, Kiat C, Rigby J, Crosbie Ó. The mRNA COVID-19 vaccine - A rare trigger of autoimmune hepatitis? J Hepatol. 2021;75:1252-1254.

- Lodato F, Larocca A, D'Errico A, Cennamo V. An unusual case of acute cholestatic hepatitis after m-RNABNT162b2 (Comirnaty) SARS-CoV-2 vaccine: Coincidence, autoimmunity or drug-related liver injury. J Hepatol. 2021;75:1254-1256.
- Clayton-Chubb D, Schneider D, Freeman E, Kemp W, Roberts SK. Autoimmune hepatitis developing after the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (Oxford-AstraZeneca) vaccine. J Hepatol. 2021;75:1249-1250.
- Singh B, Kaur P, Maroules M. Autoimmune Hepatitis-Primary Biliary Cholangitis Overlap Syndrome Triggered by COVID-19. Eur J Case Rep Intern Med. 2021;8:002264.
- Silveira MG, Talwalkar JA, Angulo P, Lindor KD. Overlap of autoimmune hepatitis and primary biliary cirrhosis: long-term outcomes. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:1244-1250.
- Teijaro JR, Farber DL. COVID-19 vaccines: modes of immune activation and future challenges. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021;21:195-197.

## CONTENTS

### **REVIEW**

101 Platelet-rich fibrin: Current trends in periodontal regeneration Deepa Sara John, Nina Shenoy; Karnataka, India

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- **108** Maternal and paternal attachment levels in the prenatal period Meltem Uğurlu, Gizem Arslan, Özhan Özdemir; Ankara, Türkiye
- **115** The relationship of food addiction with carbohydrate intake and stress in adolescents Mine Tosun, Burcu Alan Ersöz, Nesli Ersoy; Ankara, Türkiye
- 123 Knowledge and practice of dental healthcare providers about disinfection of light curing units Vinay N. Mavani, Shambhavi Gogia, Manuel S. Thomas, Ethel Suman, Srikant Natarajan; Ontario, Canada; New Delhi, Mangalore, India
- **130** Comparison of self-esteem and anxiety levels among children with and without precocious puberty Burcu Bakırlıoğlu, Derya Suluhan; Denizli, Ankara, Türkiye

### **CASE REPORTS**

- 138 Tuberculosis of the wrist Buse Hacıoğlu, Emre Tekgöz, İlker Taşçı; Ankara, Türkiye
- 141 Autoimmune hepatitis and primary biliary cholangitis overlap syndrome after mRNA COVID-19 vaccination Nadir Süleyman Çetinkaya, Mustafa Cengiz, Emine Gül Aydın; Ankara, Türkiye